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PREFACE





In

presenting this new history of Contra Costa County to the public, we do so in

the earnest hope that it will prove to be the most complete compilation of

local chronicles that has up to this time been offered to our citizens. The

authenticity of the facts contained in the various articles is as absolute as

the utmost care could make it. The data have been procured from the best-known

authorities, and the biographical sketches, when completed, were subjected to

the most searching examination for verification and correction. That no errors

will be discovered in this production is too much to hope for; but we do most

certainly trust that if any misstatements there be, either in number or by

their nature, they will not be found sufficiently important to detract from

that character for reliability which it has been our constant aim and endeavor

to impart to this history.




In this

new work the design has been to make clear the development of ideas and

institutions from epoch to epoch. The social and economic conditions of the

people have been preserved in the narrative, and much attention has been paid

to describing the civil characteristics of the several towns and cities, both

in the conduct of their local affairs and in the relation to each other and the

county at large. It has been our object in this work to hew straight to the

line, simply satisfied to furnish such information as we were able to gather

concerning important matters or interesting events, and where the desired

materials were lacking we have not attempted to supply the deficiency by

filling in the vacant niches with products of the imagination. We have not

striven for effect; our object is merely to give an authentic account of facts

recent and remote, disposed in a proper and orderly manner, so as to enable our

readers to clearly understand the history of their community from its origin

down to the present day.




This

work is a collection of data by a staff of contributors consisting of the most

accurate and capable writers in their respective fields in the county, who here

crystallize and preserve the material they have gathered from many sources.




Never,

so far as I am aware, has any local history in any county been prepared as this

has been. Each writer is in a position to speak with absolute authority upon

the subject of which he treats, and it was the intention of the editor that

each should present in the most attractive and concise form such material

relative to the matter of which he writes as had not appeared in any previous

publication. How far that hope has been realized the critical reader may judge.

It has also been the aim of the editor to limit the sketches to a statement of

such facts as will be of interest to the readers of today and -of importance to

those of the years to come.




In

sending forth this volume we trust that, in addition to its value as a

depository of accurate information and useful knowledge.it will prove an

effective instrument in creating a more lively public sentiment regarding

historical subjects, and that it will especially foster an interest in the

annals of our own county. If my collaborators and myself have helped to

perpetuate the memory of the heroism, the fortitude, the suffering, and the

achievement of the men and women who placed Contra Costa County, California, in

the foremost rank of the counties of this State, we shall be content.




F. J.

Hulaniski, Editor.


















 




INTRODUCTORY BY THE EDITOR




 I came

to California the first time many years ago, before the transcontinental

railroads had laid their span across the Great American Desert, coming from New

York to San Francisco by way of the Isthmus of Panama. There is as great a

difference between the California of today and the California of the days of

ox-teams and "prairie schooners" as there is between the aforenamed

desert and the Garden of Eden as allegorically described.




Contra

Costa County was at that time composed in the main of several large cattle

ranches, owned by Spaniards, Mexicans, and Portuguese, with here and there a

tiny country crossroads village. It shipped a little wheat and barley to San

Francisco in a primitive way, by small sailboats; but agriculture was secondary

to the live-stock interests. A cattle ranch in the olden days consisted

generally of what might be considered now a fair-sized township, or even a

county. There were miles upon miles of as good and fair land as ever lay out of

doors then only a barren waste.




People

came clear around the Horn in sailing-ships, taking months for the journey, or

took a short cut across the Isthmus, as I did, to get here quickly—in about two

months. It was at the end of the earth— "No Man's Land," the

jumping-off place of creation. Only those who were seeking adventure, or those

who joined the gold rush of 1849 and came via ox-team, or those whose health

and longevity might be promoted by an exile from civilization and a change of

name as well as environment and climate, ventured to where the sun went to bed

in effulgent splendor in or apparently near the Golden Gate. I was not

actuated, I desire to add by way of parenthesis, by the latter reason.




My

second journey to the then famous though still more or less mysterious land of

the setting sun, the yellow poppy, the luscious fruits and myriad flowers was

six years ago, in search of health, climate, and sea-level, and I found them

all here in Contra Costa County, where anybody may find them, with long life,

happiness, and comparative riches thrown in for good measure.




Because

it was so far west of the center of the country's population, for half a

century or more California and Contra Costa County lay basking in sunshine and

soft sea-breezes, almost unknown, comparatively speaking, to the outside world.

Nearly all the immigrants from over the Atlantic poured through Castle Garden

into New York, and from there a few of them gradually drifted westward; but the

West of former days was in Illinois, Iowa, and Missouri. Beyond that was a

trackless waste ranged by buffalo and peopled by Indians, across which the pony

express dashed its perilous way.




When it

is considered that two thousand miles of barren mountains, plains, and deserts

lay between California and the States east of the Mississippi, not even a

railroad crossing them until the rest of the country began to get thickly

populated, there should be little wonder that this region was slow in gaining

settlers. All that vast domain had to be populated before the restless tide of

immigration reached the Pacific Coast. Years passed, new generations grew up,

and still this great region, as large as an empire in itself, was sparsely

inhabited, its matchless climate and wonderful resources neglected save by the

natives and practically unknown to mankind. The rush of the gold-seekers in

1849 started the tide in this direction; then came the railroads, then the

people, slowly but surely, when the history of this peerless climate and these

heretofore unheard-of natural resources began to leak out to a small extent in

the outside world.




Nevertheless,

the flow of immigration for a time came at a slow pace.




In

recent years, however, a great change has taken place, the result of conditions

in the crowded East and the rapid settling of the Middle West. A telegram is

now delivered in an hour; a letter in three or four days, instead of a month or

longer. New York and San Francisco business men visit one another personally

every day in the year and think no more of it than the former did in going out

west to Chicago.




In

noting the wondrous changes which have taken place even within my own memory,

which in matters historical includes comparatively but a fleeting second of

time, I feel that it is quite reasonable, and even conservative, to predict

that in another such "second of time," during the lives of our

children of today, as great changes, or even greater, because this is a more

progressive age, are sure to take place, and just as large and important cities

as New York and Chicago will be built here in California, at least one of them

right here in Contra Costa County—at Richmond, which has grown from nothing a

dozen years ago to a city of 23,000 inhabitants as this book is written.




I lived

in Chicago before its great fire, and in San Francisco before the railroads

crossed the country intervening, and neither of them was very much in the way

of a city then. Both these cities had street-cars drawn by horses with bells

tinkling on their necks; both had men carrying little ladders which they

climbed and lighted with sulphur matches the gas-lamps on the street corners;

the telegrapher printed his messages on a long roll of white paper in dots and

dashes; of telephones there were none; a bathtub was a luxury of the rich ; and

if you had as much as five thousand dollars you were in the plutocratic class.

And all that was merely as of yesterday, as time is considered, and yet the

onward march of civilization has removed all of these difficulties and many

more. Now one can buy a ticket to San Francisco from Chicago or other common

points for about fifty dollars and roll in here in a palace car containing

bath, barber-shop, dining-car, library-car, and brunette porters with blonde

whisk-brooms to brush you off at "twobits" per.




Now the

farmers and fruit-growers of Contra Costa County are riding around in two

automobiles, one to take the family to the moving-picture show in town and the

other for the hired man to honk-honk the butter and eggs and turnips and baled

hay and strawberries and several hundred other nice things in and exchange them

for bank stock, mortgages on brick blocks, and machines which cut the wheat,

thresh it, and sack it ready for market all at the same time—and probably for

the next generation they will also grind it into flour, bake it into biscuits,

and spread thereon the butter and jam.




In

Contra Costa County, California, there is no winter, unless one climbs a high

mountain in search of it—just a nice, equitable, refreshing rainy season in the

so-called winter months to give old Mother Nature a bath and make the hills and

valleys still greener. The only way one can tell it is Christmas-time here is

when the merchants make a noise about it in the advertising columns of the

newspapers and admonish all to do their Christmas shopping early.




Here one

works out of doors every day in the year, if one wants to, in shirt-sleeves,

and the markets abound with luscious fruits and vegetables fresh out of the

garden 365 days of the year. One can get a big mess of strawberries almost any

day, winter or summer, grown in this county and as fine as were ever

embellished by cream and sugar, for ten cents a box on an average.




Summer

is just the same—bracing breezes from the Pacific come just strong enough to

wave the grass and grain and flowers and keep away malaria, the blistering hot

winds of the Middle West plains, and the sunstroke and prostration of the Far

East. Roses and millions of other beautiful flowers give their beauty to the

scene and their fragrance to the breeze. Pick a ripe orange off the tree in

your back yard and the blossoms for others are right there at the same time.

Times are good, work is plentiful for all who desire work, and good wages are

paid.




Surely

it is a favored land!




It is a

fair land, also, this county of Contra Costa, California. It signifies

"Across the Coast," and so it is—across the coast one way from the

world-famous cosmopolitan city of San Francisco, and across the coast in

another way from a goodly country stretching out toward the north to Oregon,

famous also for its apples and umbrellas. I have traveled much and far and for

many years, searching always for the country that combined the ideals, and if I

have not found it here, then I at least have the satisfaction of knowing that

it does not exist on this mundane sphere, but that it is on beyond the clouds,

where gold is used for street-paving, where the graphophone is succeeded by

harps and horns, where Paris does not set the fashion of crowns and gowns, and

where one has to die to get a one-way ticket in Charon's boat thereto.




And

after reaching such a land as this golden and glorious California, still I

traveled, searching out its most favored spot, and found it, too, right here in

the county of Contra Costa, a veritable Western empire in itself, as the reader

may judge by a perusal of the succeeding pages of its history. One must travel,

even after reaching California, to find the combination of ideals he may have

in mind, for this State is approximately four hundred miles wide and seven

hundred miles long, and embraces every type of scenery, climate, altitude, and

condition imaginable, all within its own boundaries.




In the

high Sierras are the snow, the towering mighty mountains, the rocks and

altitudes, and the gold, silver, lead, copper, zinc, tungsten, and other

precious minerals which pour out their constant stream to enrich the world and

all mankind. To the south stretches hundreds of miles of yellow oranges,

lemons, and other semi-tropical fruits in orchards laden with a lusciousness

known wherever in the world man dwells in civilization. Between are more

hundreds of miles of melons, of grapes, of nuts, of vegetables, and of fruitage

and flowers such as no other country on the globe produces. And here in Contra

Costa they all are combined and rolled into one glorious whole!




Here is

gold in the sands of the streams, silver and lead and other metals in the

hills, coal beds rich in bitumen, oranges a-plenty for home consumption, grapes

that excel the vineyards of Italy, and in such profusion that here is located

the largest winery in the world, besides many smaller ones. Here one looks down

from the hills at the clouds and mists of the bay below, and then comes down

into eternal summer and perennial sunshine and genial warmth. Here the walnut

and the almond grow in such profusion that hundreds of carloads of them are

shipped to the markets of the world every season, with a growth of almost every

known vegetable so plentiful that they go out by trainloads and shiploads far

and near. In the Antioch section of this history it will be noted that celery

and asparagus are shipped to the Atlantic seaboard, not by the carload but by

the trainload, and that the trains are many and long. This county has seventy

miles of water-front, on the San Francisco Bay, the San Pablo Bay, the

Carquinez Straits, and the Sacramento River, and at Pittsburg and Bay Point the

fisheries maintained are so immense in their output and value as to rival the

countries of the North or East, the large cities being supplied with fresh fish

every day in the year, and the canneries there employing hundreds of men and

women.




Richmond

is known far and wide as "the Pittsburg of the West," because of its

great manufacturing interests, where such industries as the Standard Oil works,

with the second largest oil refinery in the world, the Pullman car-shops, the

great pipe and steel works, porcelain factories, and dozens of others pour out

to ports all over the world a continual stream of manufactured products, have

hundreds of millions invested, employ thousands of skilled artisans, and

maintain pay-rolls aggregating close to a million a month.




So, it

will be seen, this marvelous county not only combines a vast diversity of

industries and opportunities, but a diversity of products and vocations, a

diversity of hill and dale, of orange groves and mines, of ocean, bay, and

river, of agriculture, viniculture, and live-stock, almost anything on earth

one may be looking for or desirous of obtaining.




And

above all and over all floats serene and ever joyful and salubrious a climate

made to order for the enjoyment of mankind by some higher power than we know of

save by tradition and intuition.




Now,

just a few words about scenery, for scenery is always interesting. There is

more scenery here in this county of Contra Costa than in any other one spot of

equal area this writer has ever visited, and the great Yosemite, the Grand

Canyon, and the Garden of the Gods are all old acquaintances. Here the scenery

of mountain, of valley, and of sea are all rolled together in one

brain-tangling profusion and immensity like some vast scroll, until one becomes

lost in the labyrinth of kaleidoscopic vistas spread out to view from all

points of the compass—and it is, like the climate, all free!




And

speaking of "The Garden of the Gods," it shall here be asserted and

set down as a fact that Contra Costa County, California, is more entitled to

that name than any spot in Colorado or elsewhere. For that reason, and because

of its entire appropriateness to this favored section, I shall appropriate it

here and now, and trust that succeeding generations and other historians who

shall come upon the scene when we of today have earned and gone to eternal

rest, may hand it down to other generations and historians—The Garden of the

Gods!




At

Colorado Springs they have a Garden of the Gods, composed of a "cave of

the winds," a balancing rock, and several other freaks of nature hewn out

of red sandstone by the waters of early ages, and these they capitalized for

many thousands, and got the money, and will get more thousands, but the gods

have moved away. And no one could blame the gods, after comparing that garden

with this one, from the viewpoint of both gods and men, as near as mere man can

make such a calculation. You cannot see the gods here in their new

abiding-place; but if you are in touch with Nature and Nature's wondrous and

beautiful things, you can feel their presence and talk to them, and hear them

talk to you, in the same language that the little pink mystery murmurs to you

out of the whispering depths of the seashell; the same language as the twang on

the harp of godlike inspiration which comes to you out of the panorama of a

scenic magnificence and grandeur spread out to view like a leaf torn from one

of Milton's great epic poems, or the sighing of the pines and redwoods on the

high hilltops in the soft breezes of the sea.




If you

would view this Garden of the Gods, go high up on the serpentine boulevard

around and on top of the Sobrante hills, overlooking the bays and ocean, high

above Oakland, above Berkeley, Piedmont, and Richmond, or on over the Pinole

hills to Martinez, or to Mount Diablo in the Concord and Walnut Creek sections

of the county, and there eight or nine great California counties lift up their

scenic marvels of beauteous splendor for a mixture of awe and admiration —

surely a fit habitation for the gods. And there the nodding palms and pines and

myriads of sweet-faced poppies and other flowers say that the gods are at home

and bid you welcome.




A

magnificent boulevard, costing the capitalists who built it something like

thirty thousand dollars a mile, winds around, through, and over most of these

hills now, from Oakland to and beyond Richmond. The builders of this boulevard

have not only opened the most startling vista to the public view; they have

caused thousands of trees and millions of shrubs to grow where none grew

before, and pink and red and white and yellow flowers, and green bond coupons,

to blossom where erstwhile only the sad refrain of the lonely coyote was heard

screaming to its mate that it had been three days and a hundred miles between

meals.




This

boulevard rises to imposing summits and there spreads out to view a scene that

would take poets, painters, and musicians, as well as writers, to adequately

portray.




This

scribe put in years in the Rocky Mountains, and viewed much wondrous scenery,

but out here by the placid Pacific, in Contra Costa County, California, I have

seen the Royal Gorge, Marshall Pass, the Grand Canon of the Colorado, Eagle

Pass, Toltic Gorge, and all the other marvels of the Rockies rolled into one,

and then excelled! Why should I not maintain that the name, "The Garden of

the Gods," belongs to it?




From the

view spread out from any of these Contra Costa hills, over the placid bosom of

the bay, lies San Francisco, risen Phoenix-like from its ashes, with its

half-million people running a Marathon race of commercial activity. Laving its

feet are the waters of the Golden Gate, and far out beyond is the blue sky-line

coming down to kiss the bluer ocean somewhere toward Hawaii. Yerba Buena,

Alcatraz, Mare Island, San Quentin, the Sonoma hills, college-gowned Berkeley

in the foothills below—Oakland, with madding marts of men rife with tremendous

traffic, and the white pinnacle of its municipal tower piercing the haze, a

monument to man's ambition—Richmond, with two deep-water bays embracing it,

belching smoke from a thousand factory furnaces along the water-front and then

stretching out in peaceful homelike serenity toward the hills to the east and

north! Miles and miles of stately hills and fertile valleys, trees and shrubs

and flowers on beyond. If old Satan should take me up there and say, as he is quoted

as saying once before, "Fall down and worship me and all you see shall be

yours,"




I am

afraid there would be a loud bump heard upon the salty, fragrant air, which

would be that of my falling down!




The time

is near, and already approaching, when much of this startling grandeur will be

marred, from a natural standpoint, by the inroads upon it of commercial

activity, for the rapid growth of the near-by cities is reaching out to the

hills and hill-surrounded vales, and spreading out to still more hills and

vales, and the honk of the automobile, the clank of the trolley-car, and the

pop and whang of the street-macadamizing machine will soon drive the gods on

over into other gardens as yet untrodden by even the moccasin of the aborigine.




But for

ages in the past, at present, and for a few years yet into the future, the

roads and trails lead up and up and around among Nature's fairest spots on

earth, up over cities, villages, hills, valleys, bays, the ocean—up almost to

the clouds, where Nature speaks a language of her own, and where is spread out

to view hundreds of miles of this fair Contra Costa County, California, a

veritable Garden of the Gods.


















 





CHAPTER I. THE INDIANS 





IT IS

generally conceded by both the early and modern California historians that the Pacific

Coast Indians were far inferior as a race to the stalwart Eastern Indians,

idealized by Fenimore Cooper. The Indians of the San Francisco Bay region

formed no exception to this rule. They lived under the most primitive

conditions, with apparently no aspiration for the higher civilization that

characterized the Aztecs and Peruvians.




When the

white man came upon the scene there were four tribes of Indians in Contra Costa

County. These were the Juchiyunes, Acalanes, Bolgones, and Carquinez Indians.

They knew practically nothing of the arts of civilization. All the historians

of the period describe them as going about in a state of semi-nudity, if not

entirely naked. Occasionally the men wore a crude sort of loin-cloth and the

women fashioned an apron from tules; these hung from the waist to the knees

fore and aft and were open at the sides. In the winter they wore crude garments

made from deerskins or feathers of waterfowls.




Little

effort was made-toward constructing habitations. In the summer a few boughs

interwoven formed their shelter from the sun and occasional showers. In the

winter they lived in their wickiups. The latter, as described by Bancroft,

"are sometimes erected on the level ground, but more frequently over an

excavation three or four feet deep, and varying from ten to thirty feet in

diameter. Round the brink of this hole willow poles are sunk upright in the

ground and the tops drawn together, forming a conical structure, or the upper

ends are bent over and driven into the earth on the opposite side of the pit,

thus giving the hut a semi-globular shape. Bushes or strips of bark are then

piled up against the poles, and the whole is covered with a thick layer of

earth or mud.




In some

instances the interstices of the frame are filled with twigs woven crosswise,

over and under, between the poles, and the outside covering is of tule reeds,

instead of earth. A hole at the top gives egress to the smoke, and a small

opening close to the ground admits the occupants. Each hut generally shelters a

whole family of relations by blood and marriage, so that the dimensions of the

habitation depend on the size of the family."




They

were short of stature, sturdily built, with broad shoulders, and were possessed

of great strength. Their complexions were swarthy, with less of the copper

color of the Eastern Indians. Their features were flat, with none of the

aquiline characteristics of the legendary Indian. Their coarse, straight black

hair they wore long and unkempt.




They

were generally beardless, although Dr. Marsh, in a letter to Lewis Cass in

1846, stated that "they are a hairy race, and some of them have beards

that would do honor to a Turk."




Describing

the Indians further, in the same letter, Dr. Marsh wrote: "In some

individuals the hair grows quite down to the eyebrows, and they may be said to

have no foreheads at all. Some few have that peculiar conformation of the eye

so remarkable in the Chinese and Tartar races, and entirely different from the

common American Indian or the Polynesian, and with this unpromising set of

features, some have an animated and agreeable expression of countenance. The

general expression of the wild Indian has nothing of the proud and lofty

bearing or the haughtiness and ferocity so often seen east of the mountains. It

is more commonly indicative of timidity and stupidity."




As to

food they were omnivorous, eating anything available, according to the season.

They ate various kinds of roots which they dug from the earth. Earthworms and

grasshoppers formed a portion of their diet.




They made

a primitive sort of bread from the pounded kernel of the buckeye and are said

to have used a certain kind of fat worms for shortening.




It is

interesting to note that the Indians inhabiting the San Francisco Bay region

used no canoes, substituting therefor a rude, makeshift boat fashioned from

bundles of tules firmly bound together. These were about ten feet long and

pointed at both ends. Until the coming of the Jesuit Fathers the Bay Indians

had no other crafts than these tule boats, which were in use as late as 1840.

Bancroft offers this explanation: "The probable cause of the absence of

boats in Central California, is the scarcity of suitable, favorably located

timber. Doubtless if the banks of the Sacramento and the shores of San

Francisco Bay had been lined with large, straight fir trees, their waters would

have been filled with canoes. Yet, after all, this is but a poor excuse; for

not only on the hills and mountains, at a little distance from the water, are

forests of fine trees, and quantities of driftwood come floating down every

stream during the rainy season, out of which surely sufficient material could

be secured for some sort of boats."




The

universal remedy prescribed by the Indians for all diseases was the sweat-bath.

Every rancheria had its sweat-house or temescal, the latter name having been

bestowed by the Franciscan Fathers. The patient after perspiring in the

temescal for several hours, to the point of exhaustion, completed the treatment

by plunging into the cold waters of a near-by stream. The temescal was always

built on the bank of a body of water, preferably a river. The following extract

is taken from the account of a pioneer who underwent the ordeal: "A

sweat-house is of the shape of an inverted bowl, is generally about forty feet

in diameter at the bottom and is built of strong poles and branches of trees,

covered with earth to prevent the escape of heat.




There is

a small hole near the ground, large enough for the Diggers to creep in one at a

time, and another at the top to give out the smoke.




When a

dance is given, a large fire is kindled in the center of the edifice, and the

crowd assembles, the white spectators crawling in and seating themselves

anywhere out of the way. The apertures, above and below, are then closed, and

the dancers take their positions.




"Four

and twenty squaws, en dishabille, on one side of the fire, and as many

hombres, in puris naturalibus, on the other. Simultaneously with the

commencement of the dancing, which is a kind of shuffling hobble-de-hoy, the

'music' bursts forth. Yes, music fit to raise the dead.




A whole

legion of devils broke loose. Such screaming, shrieking, yelling, and roaring

was never before heard since the foundation of the world. A thousand cross-cut

saws filed by steam power—a multitude of tom-cats lashed together and flung

over a clothes-line—innumerable pigs under a gate—all combined would produce a

heavenly melody compared with it. Yet this uproar, deafening as it is, might

possibly be endured, but another sense soon comes to be saluted. Talk of the

thousand stinks of the City of Cologne! Here are at least forty thousand

combined in one grand overwhelming stench."




He then

relates how he was well-nigh overcome in the oppressive atmosphere, from which

there was no escape. After being literally "in durance vile" for

several hours, the apertures were suddenly thrown open and the Indians rushed

out with a whoop and plunged into the icy water, emerging therefrom to sink

exhausted on the bank.




The

Contra Costa Indians cremated their dead. This practice prevailed among all the

Bay Indians. Farther south the Indians buried their dead. The mother or a near

relative of the deceased was generally given the distinction of lighting the

funeral pyre. All the possessions of the dead were piled around the body and

were consumed in the flames. Afterward the ashes were mixed with pitch and

smeared on the faces of relatives as a badge of mourning.




They all

believed in a continued existence after death, and in all probability, in

common with most of the Indians on this continent, had a vague idea of a Great

Spirit. They held certain rocks to be sacred and paid veneration to the grizzly

bear, whose flesh they would never eat.




The

story of these Indians would not be complete without reference to their extreme

docility. In the letter previously quoted, Dr. Marsh refers to them as a

"race of infants."




"In

many instances," he wrote, "when a family of white people have taken

a farm in the vicinity of an Indian village, in a short time they would have

the whole tribe for willing serfs. They submit to flagellation with more

humility than the negroes. Nothing more is necessary for their complete

subjugation but kindness in the beginning, and a little well-timed severity

when manifestly deserved. It is common for the white man to ask the Indian,

when the latter has committed any fault, how many lashes he thinks he deserves.

The Indian, with a simplicity and humility almost inconceivable, replies ten or

twenty, according to his opinion of the magnitude of the offense. The white man

then orders another Indian to inflict the punishment, which is received without

the least sign of resentment or discontent."




Dr.

Marsh concludes his account with the observation that "throughout all

California the Indians are the principal laborers; without them the business of

the country could hardly be carried on."




Where

are the California Indians today? It is doubtful if one could find a score in

all of Contra Costa County, and throughout the State they have been decimated

in similar proportion. With the coming of the white man came the plagues of

civilization—diseases previously unknown among the Indians. The white man had

as a heritage the stamina and resistance of millions of ancestors who had

successfully battled with disease; the Indian had not, and Nature remorselessly

swept him aside. Measles, smallpox, and cholera, sporadic among the white

settlers, assumed the form of a pestilence among the Indians, and took toll of

them by thousands.




That the

Indians were numerous throughout the State in early times is attested by many

explorers, including Kit Carson. He wrote that the valleys of California were

full of Indians in 1829, but that when he visited the State in 1859 they had

disappeared to a surprising extent. Settlers in localities where Indians were

once numerous stated that they knew nothing of the previous history of the

Indians. They had undoubtedly been exterminated by a pestilence. Beyond this

nothing was known, as the California Indians kept no records. With possibly the

sole exception of the Aztecs, the North American Indians were not given to

writing memorials for the future historian. Here and there throughout the

State, however, are a vast number of piles of stone and circles of earth which

mark the sites of once populous rancherias. Nearby are always found the remains

of the indispensable sweat-house. These, with their burial-places, about which

are always found a large quantity of beads, mortars, and arrow-heads of flint,

are all that remain of a once numerous race.


















 





CHAPTER II. EARLY HISTORY OF CALIFORNIA 





Before

proceeding with the immediate history of Contra Costa County it might be well

to give a brief outline of the early history of California—California, whose

shores Sir Francis Drake touched and Don Gaspar de Portola explored!

California, the land of sunshine and flowers! of romance and gold "in the

days of '49"!




Surely

it is a promising field; but as this work is to be a history of a locality and

not that of the State, the latter will be touched upon only in as far as is

necessary to clear the way for what comes afterward—the story of Contra Costa

County.




To go

back to the very beginning, the discovery and settlement of California was made

possible by that intrepid explorer, Vasco Nunez de Balboa. When he gazed out on

the Pacific from the summit of a hill in Panama a new world was opened for

discovery. He was followed by that ruthless adventurer, Hernando Cortez, who

conquered Mexico in 1519, shamelessly butchering its people and devastating its

wonderful cities.




The

trend was steadily toward the north, but it was not until 1542 that a voyage of

discovery was made along the California coast. Captain Juan Rodriguez Cabrillo

it was who sailed into what is now known as San Diego Bay on September 28,

1542. In 1602 Don Sebastian Viscaino, who was sent out by Philip III of Spain,

discovered Monterey Bay, and a party under him journeyed north as far as the

Columbia River.




Then an

English explorer and adventurer, Sir Francis Drake, on a marauding expedition,

appeared on the scene. It has been a much disputed point with historians ever

since as to whether it was in San Francisco Bay that Drake wintered in 1578. It

is generally conceded now that it was not San Francisco Bay, but Drake's Bay, a

few miles north of the former, and immediately under the lee of Point Reyes.




Drake

called the country New Albion, and took possession in the name of his

sovereign, Queen Elizabeth. Little if any effort was made by the English to

follow in the trail blazed by Drake.




Although

the Spanish settled and colonized Lower California early in the sixteenth

century, it was not until nearly two hundred years later that any progress was

made toward permanently locating in Upper California, as our State was then

called. The first permanent settlement in California was made at San Diego in

1769. There, during the same year, the first mission was established.




From

Lower California in 1769 an expedition set out under command of Don Gaspar de

Portola, first governor of California. This expedition was destined to have a

great influence on the later history of California, for it was Don Gaspar who

discovered San Francisco Bay, following a journey of innumerable privations and

hardships.




Then

followed the era of missions in California. The impress of the missions, which

formed so important a part in the early history of California, is felt to this

day. They stand out as historic monuments to the piety and zeal of their great

founder, Father Junipero Serra. Beginning with the mission at San Diego, which

he founded in 1769, he established between that year and his death, in 1784,

twenty-one missions in California. In founding the mission at Monterey he

rediscovered Monterey Bay, the goal of explorers ever since its first discovery

by Viscaino, in 1602. Mission San Carlos de Monterey became his headquarters.




Setting

out from there, the other missions were established in rapid succession in

various parts of the country. He succeeded with the Indians as no one else ever

did before or since. He possessed a character of great firmness, balanced by

gentleness, kindness, and patience—one best calculated to deal with the

Indians, thousands of whom he converted to his faith and who universally

mourned his death.




The

missions were generally quadrilateral, two stories high, and enclosed a

courtyard embellished with fountains and trees. The sides of the quadrangle

were usually about six hundred feet long, and the whole enclosed the church,

storerooms, workshops, and living quarters.




Young

Indian girls inhabited one portion of the mission. They were given careful

training and instruction by skilled matrons. Those who showed exceptional

talent were given vocal and instrumental training.




None

were permitted to leave until of a marriageable age, this with a view of

preserving their morality. In the men's quarters the mechanical and

agricultural arts were taught.




Let us

glance at the daily routine of the missions: All arose at sunrise and proceeded

to the church, where they took part in devotional exercises. After partaking of

breakfast, they took up their various duties. Following the noonday meal, they

enjoyed a siesta, or rest, until two o'clock, after which they resumed work

until about an hour before sundown, when the chimes of the evening angelus were

heard. From then until supper-time all participated in evening devotions at the

church. After supper was the time for recreation, and all took part in dancing,

in games, and in all manner of amusements. They did not lack for food, their

diet consisting of plenty of the choicest beef and mutton, with vegetables,

wheat cakes, and porridge. Such, in brief, was the life of the Indians at the

missions.




We will

pass rapidly over the next period, during which California belonged to Mexico,

which acquired her independence from Spain in 1821, largely through the efforts

of one Iturbide, who during the same year caused himself to be declared emperor

of Mexico.




This was

the time of great land grants. Any citizen of good character, by the payment of

a small fee to the Mexican Government, could secure a grant of land of from one

to eleven square leagues. These great domains were known as ranchos, and their

owners were rancheros. Over their broad acres ranged thousands of cattle, since

cattle-raising was the one and only industry. The rancheros, who formed the

aristocracy of California prior to American occupation, were extremely

hospitable, keeping open house the year round. They were fond of social

pleasures, especially of music and dancing, and even their horses were taught

to step in time to the guitar. Few, if any, could boast of pure Castilian

descent, a varying admixture of Indian blood being the rule, yet many of the

women were of notable beauty. Both sexes dressed in a striking and picturesque

manner. The men wore wide pantaloons, laced with ribbons through eyelets from

the waistband to the hips and fastened with immense silver buttons. For a cloak

they wore a gaily colored serape, made from a blanket with a hole cut in the

center, through which the head was inserted. The serape hung down to the knees.

They were shod with highly polished boots, from which jangled heavy silver

spurs, and a broad sombrero tilted back on their heads completed the

spectacular costume. The senoritas were no less adept at decking themselves out

to advantage, especially on a gala occasion. The favorite ballroom dress was a

scarlet petticoat, softened in tone by being covered by a white lawn skirt,

while a black velvet waist plentifully decked with spangles heightened the

attractive costume. Their only head-dress was the mantilla, or shawl. They were

the personification of grace and were famous for their dancing.




The men

were skilled equestrians and spent a large part of their time in the saddle.

One of their favorite amusements was to pick a silver dollar from the ground while

riding by at a gallop. No less skilled were they with the riata, which formed a

dangerous weapon in their hands, whether directed against a bull, a bear, or a

human enemy.




They

were all devout Catholics, their priests belonging to the Franciscan order.

Numerous were the saints' days which they kept, in addition to Sundays, which

made their working week often much shorter than that observed in this modern

age of efficiency.




Their

homes were built of adobe, a black clayey loam, which they made into sun-dried

bricks, admirably adapted to primitive building conditions. Rough timbers with

the bark removed were used for joists and beams, rushes and chaparral sufficing

for a thatched roof. When whitewashed within and without the whole was

beautiful in its simplicity; nor were they lacking in durability, for many of

them are in an excellent state of preservation to this day.




Beef and

beans, well-seasoned with chile peppers, formed the most important part of

their diet, and these the senoras were capable of preparing in many dishes that

were extremely appetizing. Their bread was made from maize ground between two

stones, and was baked in the form of thin wafers, known as tortillas.




In 1846

the United States went to war with Mexico, after which, by the treaty of 1848,

California became American territory. One year later, a date now famous, the

era of the argonauts began. James W. Marshall discovered gold while digging a

mill-race for Captain Sutter at Coloma, and in 1849 people began flocking to

California from the ends of the earth. Round the Horn they came in clipper

ships, or across the plains behind ox-teams. The golden halo of romance settled

over California, adventurous spirits wooed Fortune at every turn and became

wealthy overnight. In 1850 California had sufficient population to admit her to

the Union—and here we shall begin the history of Contra Costa County.


















 





CHAPTER III. MEXICAN LAND GRANTS — PEN-PICTURES OF EARLY DAYS 





This

chapter deals with the period of great Mexican land grants, those vast

dominions of California under the Mexican regime which stretched over thousands

of acres of the most fertile lands and laid the foundation for the fortunes of

numerous families.




Prior to

the cession of California to the United States in 1848, it was possible for any

citizen of good character to pay a nominal fee to the Mexican Government and

receive a grant of land covering from one to eleven square leagues. Scores of

these large grants were distributed over Contra Costa County. Throughout the

central and southern part of California the Mexican Government gave away these

grants with a lavish hand. When California became American territory the United

States sent a representative, William Carey Jones, to California and Mexico to

make a special study of land grants. This was done with a view of establishing

a perfect title, wherever possible, so that no hardship might be experienced by

the then residents of California through the change in governments. In most

instances a bona fide title was granted by the United States without

inconvenience to the original holders. In later years, however, partition suits

were instituted by the heirs of these families, whose descendants were numbered

by scores.




These

famous suits were carried on through the courts for years, until final decrees

in partition were handed down, some of them of very recent date.




The most

famous of the partition suits were those affecting the Welch ranch or Rancho

las Juntas, the Rancho el Sobrante suit, settled in recent years, and the Marsh

grant litigation, known as the suit of T. I. Bergin against Charles B. Sanford,

finally partitioned in May, 1912. Much valuable information on early land

grants is contained in a historical sketch written by Judge Thomas A. Brown and

published in the Contra Costa Gazette in 1876, a portion of which follows: 




"During

the year 1823 Francisco Castro made application to the Mexican authorities for

the San Pablo Rancho, and Ignacio Martinez for the Pinole Rancho, to the extent

of four leagues of land each. These men, who were the pioneer white settlers in

our county, planted vineyards and pear orchards at their ranchos more than half

a century ago. They made little other improvements; each of them built an adobe

house and a few corrals. Their neighbors then were the families of Peralta, at

San Antonio, and Castro, at San Lorenzo, until about the year 1826, when Jose

Maria Amador settled upon the San Ramon Rancho, at Dublin, where he obtained a

grant of four leagues of land. During the year 1828 Valencia occupied the Alcalanes

Rancho, at Lafayette, Moraga the Lagunas Palos Colorados, or Redwood Rancho,

and Felipe Briones the Briones Rancho. Each of these persons made application

to the Government for a grant of land; Valencia for three-fourths of a league,

and the others for three leagues each. Briones was soon afterward killed by the

Indians, near where the town of Clayton now is, while himself and some of his

neighbors were attempting to recover some stock which had been stolen by the

Indians, and which they were driving toward the San Joaquin plains. During the

same year Silvio Pacheco founded the Monte del Diablo Rancho, and settled where

the village of Concord is situated, where he has ever since resided, and about

the same time Juana Pacheco, a widow, made application for title to the San

Miguel Rancho. At that time she resided at San Jose; Ygnacio Sibrian, her

nephew, occupied the ranch for her, and built an adobe house near Walnut Creek.

These persons afterward obtained grants of land of four square leagues each. During

the year 1832 Mariano Castro and Bartolo Pacheco settled upon and made

application for the San Ramon Rancho. About the same time William Welch, a

Scotchman by birth, petitioned for the tract known as the Welch Rancho, on

which a portion of the town of Martinez is situated. Welch resided but a short

time on the rancho, and, in consequence of the hostility of the Indians and the

entire absence of security, he left the ranch in charge of a few vaqueros and

removed his family to San Jose. Welch made his settlement at the place known as

the Welch homestead, near Walnut Creek.




Soon

after, and about the years 1832 and 1833, the Romero brothers settled at the

place known as Tice Valley, and made application for a grant to the sobrante or

vacant land lying between the ranchos of San Ramon, Welch Rancho, Alcalanes,

and Moraga. They occupied the place for many years, but their application for a

grant was finally rejected.




"About

the year 1836 two brothers, Jose Miguel and Antonio Mesa, settled upon the New

York Rancho, near the place known as Kirker's Pass, and made application to the

Government for a grant of the place to the extent of two leagues, which was

granted to them under the name of Los Medanos. During the same year Miranda

Higuera and Alviso settled upon and made application for a grant for the place

called Canada de los Vaqueros, and Jose Noriega made application for the Rancho

los Meganos, known as the Marsh Rancho, consisting of three square leagues of

land. During the following year, 1837, Noriega sold the rancho to Doctor John

Marsh, who settled upon it in the same year, and occupied it afterward until

his death, which occurred in 1856. So the Doctor was the first native-born

American citizen who ever resided permanently in this county or within its territorial

limits as originally defined.




"The

Indians, then roaming in bands over the Sacramento and San Joaquin valleys,

made a regular business of raiding upon the ranchos in the district north of

San Jose and east of the Bay of San Francisco.




The

inhabitants of that district were forced to keep constant watch to prevent them

from driving away all of their stock, and in their efforts to recover their

animals from the Indians it frequently occurred that the latter would give

battle to their pursuers, and sometimes were victorious, and in such cases they

would get away with the stock.




"Until

about 1847, and during the first ten years of his residence on his ranch,

Doctor Marsh's neighbors, comprising all the people who then had lands and

resided within the present limits of this county, were the Mesas, on the New

York Rancho, Miranda and Higuera, on the Canada de los Vaqueros, Salvio

Pacheco, on the Monte del Diablo, Ygnacio Sibrian, on the San Miguel, all then

considered to be adjoining ranchos, the haciendas, or dwelling-places, on each

of them being from twelve to fifteen miles from his. His other neighbors,

living from twenty to forty miles from him, were Jose Maria Amador, at the San

Ramon Rancho, Pacheco and Castro, on the Rancho San Ramon, Ygnacio Martinez, at

Pinole, Moraga, at the Redwoods, Valencia, at the Acalanes, the family of

Francisco Castro, at San Pablo, and the vaqueros of Welch, on the Welch Ranch,

the widow and family of Felipe Briones, on the Briones Rancho.




"The

ranch-owners usually had employed a few vaqueros to herd and care for their

stock. These vaqueros were generally mission (or Christianized) Indians. Such

was the condition of the country here at the close of the war.




"Very

little attention was given to agricultural pursuits further than that nearly

every ranch-owner cultivated a few acres of beans and corn and a small potato

patch, with a few other vegetables, and a few square rods planted in melons.

This was about the extent of farming carried on at the different ranches. Also

all of the rancheros, when locating their ranches, planted small vineyards and

pear-trees. Many of these vineyards and trees bear fruit to this day.




"At

the close of the war about forty-six leagues, embracing about three hundred and

twenty square miles of land, was owned or held by persons named in this county.

Previous to the settlement in this county by Americans and other foreigners, as

they were called by the Californians, but little improvements had been made by

any of the Californians, nor did they require much. An adobe house and a few

corrals generally comprised all the improvements necessary on a rancho.




"Soon

after the close of the war American citizens and citizens of other countries

began to settle in the county. During the year 1847 Elam Brown purchased the

Acalanes Rancho and settled upon it near the village of Lafayette. In 1848

Colonel William M. Smith purchased from one of the Castros a portion of the

place known as the sobrante of the San Pablo, and during the year 1849 quite a

number of citizens of the United States and other countries came into the

county. They located chiefly in the redwoods between Moraga Valley and San

Antonio, for the purpose of manufacturing lumber for market.




"In

referring to the names of two of the ranchos, and to the location of the town

of Martinez, we have mentioned Monte del Diablo as the name of the rancho of

Salvio Pacheco, the Rancho el Pinole as that of Ygnacio Martinez, being located

upon the Arroyo del Hambre. Doubtless persons have often inquired how they

originated, or why these names were applied to these places. Upon one occasion

it was asked of a native Californian, who was quite an old man, and he stated

that the names were (as he had learned during his boyhood) given to these

places during the beginning of the last century, and he related the facts

substantially as follows: The Indians inhabiting the country north of San Jose

Valley were very troublesome, so much so that small parties could not travel in

the country north of San Jose with safety. The Mexican Government sent a

company of troops from Monterey to chastise the Indians, and to correct the

leaders of the most troublesome of them. The troops came upon a camp of Indians

near the present location of Concord. The Indians retreated into a thicket of

willows and undergrowth upon a piece of swamp land near where Fernando Pacheco

lived. Night coming on, the troops did not pursue the Indians into the thicket,

but divided into squads and partially surrounded the place, intending to make a

finish of them in the morning. During the night the troops saw what they

believed to be moving lights in different parts of the thicket; the lights

appeared to be moving, and they were confident that they had the Indians

corralled. In the morning they closed in and charged upon the thicket, but

found no Indians, neither had any of them stopped there during the night, as

they found upon examination that they had pressed through the place and gone

far beyond, and that there was not a human being in the thicket during the

night. The troops were bewildered and frightened, being unable to account for

the lights which they saw during the night, so they named the place the Devil's

Thicket, or Monte del Diablo. The lights were probably produced by

phosphorescence, which the troops did not understand and could not comprehend.

They immediately left that place, and did not pursue these Indians farther, but

immediately moved to the Straits of Carquinez, intending to cross over and go

to the Mission of San Rafael. They were unable to cross by reason of high winds

and camped at the place near where the town of Martinez now is. Their

provisions giving out, and being unable to secure any more, they were forced to

abandon the camp. They called the place the Valley of Hunger (Canada del

Hambre). They started in the direction of San Francisco, intending to cross the

straits, if possible.




On their

march they found a village of Indians who had corn from which they manufactured

meal (pinole). That camp they named El Pinole. When Salvio Pacheco petitioned

for his grant he gave it the name which the Mexican troops had given the

thicket which grew there, and the names given the Canada del Hambre and Pinole

by that company of Mexican troops have attached to these places ever since. The

mountain now called Monte Diablo formerly was called Sierra de los Golgones.

Its present name originated with the Americans and other foreign people who

came into the county at a comparatively recent date."




EARLY

INHABITANTS 




The

following graphic description of early-day manners and customs was also written

by Judge Thomas A. Brown, and was first published in the centennial edition of

the Contra Costa Gazette in 1876: "Since its organization, in February,

1850, the population of the county at large has slowly but steadily increased.

There was but little increase in the eastern portion of the county until after

the discovery of coal, about the year 1860, at Nortonville, since which time

that portion of the county has grown rapidly in population, and in increased

value of property.




"Many

of our people will recollect the carts used in early days by the Californians.

They usually traveled from place to place on horseback, but when the family

desired to visit a neighbor or go to town the family coach was called into use.

That vehicle consisted of two immense wooden wheels, cut or sawed off a log,

with holes as near the center as convenient for the axletree, with a tongue

lashed to the axle with rawhide thongs. Upon this a frame as wide as the wheels

would permit, and from seven to twelve feet in length, was placed, upon which

was securely fastened one or two rawhides, with the flesh side down, and a rude

frame over the top, upon which to stretch an awning, with rawhide thongs wove

around the sides to keep the children from tumbling out.




The

female portion of the family, with the small children, would seat themselves in

the cart, to which was attached a pair of the best traveling oxen on the ranch.

An Indian would drive, or rather lead, the oxen (for he usually walked ahead of

them). In this simple, rude contrivance the family would travel twenty or

thirty miles a day with as much comfort apparently as people now take in riding

in our modern vehicles.




Sometimes

several families would ride in a single cart, and visit their friends, go to

town for the purpose of shopping, or to attend church."




 




WILD

GAME 




The

excellent article on wild game which here follows was published in a historical

work of 1878:




"There

is now, at proper seasons, an abundance of California quail, wild ducks, geese,

and other game in this county. In fact, the wild geese along the borders of the

rivers are a great nuisance to the farmers. Immense flocks of these light down

on the green growing grain and eat it off close to the ground. Farmers

sometimes employ hands who do nothing but ride on horseback about the

grain-fields, and by use of the shotgun succeed in keeping them off until the

time for their departure to another clime arrives. Large flocks of pelicans,

both white and gray, are common in the lagoons and tule swamps, as also are

cranes and many other water-birds.




"Herds

of elk roamed over the San Joaquin plains in early times. Captain Kimball, of

Antioch, says on the first morning of his arrival there, in 1849, be saw eighty

elk in one drove, feeding a mile south of his house, and shot a fine heifer

weighing four hundred pounds. At the same time these plains were covered with

wild cattle. These were slaughtered for their hides and tallow, which, at that

day, constituted the only currency of the country. Much of the flesh meat in

1850-51 was dried elk. Large herds of them used to feed on the green tule lands

and islands opposite Antioch. Their horns were such as to prevent them from

running in large bodies. They were frequently lassoed by the vaqueros of

California.




"Deer

were also thick in this county in early times, in spots not much frequented by

horsemen, and were often seen feeding on the bunchgrass about Diablo. There are

still a few to be found in the dense timber of the hills.




"Antelope

were also numerous. These were fleet, pretty animals, as well as cunning in

their habits. One, larger than the rest, by early settlers has often been seen

watching while the main body of the kids were at water or on the bottom lands,

feeding on green grass. The elk, deer, and antelope are all good swimmers, and

frequently visited the islands of the San Joaquin for green food.




"The

coyote, or fox, is well known to the Californian—a kind of link between the cat

and dog—and is sometimes called prairie-dog but is very different from the animal

of that name found on the Western plains. They often followed the immigrant

train to pick up the bones and crumbs that fell by the way. They would steal

eggs and chickens from the roost, but were great cowards, and a small dog would

drive them off.




"The

California lion is not a roaring lion, like the African. The head is small, and

much like the head of the tiger, being large between the eyes. The neck is

without mane. It is said he seldom attacks human beings.




"Grizzly

bears were thick in early times, so much so that Dr. Marsh used to say he could

have one caught any time by the vaqueros. The bears often took his calves and

colts. They would destroy elk, deer, and antelope. A young man was killed by

one of them in the dense forest of chamisal, three or four miles from Antioch.

This chamisal is a short growth of underbrush, so dense as to be impenetrable

by man, and covered about five thousand acres. Wildcats are occasionally seen

in parts of Contra Costa County.




"The

larger wild animals have probably disappeared forever from this county. It

would be interesting to know just when and where the last of these noble

animals met their inevitable fate."




Smaller

game, however, has by no means disappeared from Contra Costa County. Today,

nearly forty years after the above article was written, the sportsman may still

find good hunting. At certain times of the year wild geese in abundance are

found on the tule front in the eastern section of the county, and ducks and

other water-fowls are plentiful along the water-front from Byron to Richmond.




In the

valleys of the central section, and especially around the foothills of Mount

Diablo, quails are plentiful. The shotgun adept will also find good

dove-hunting in the vicinity of Marsh Creek and in Ygnacio Valley.




Deer are

scarce now because of the army of hunters that slaughter them as fast as they

appear in the foothills of Mount Diablo from the Livermore hills. That the deer

increased rapidly when there was a closed season for hunting them is shown by

the fact that forty-four fine bucks were brought in on the first day of the

open season some years ago, after a long interval of restriction. It is the

general opinion that deer would rapidly increase if the ban were again placed

on the hunter for a few years.




Excellent

fishing rewards the modern Izaak Waltons in the mountain streams and bay

waters. Anglers derive great sport from fishing for striped bass, the gameness

of which is celebrated. They are most plentiful in the bay waters off Selby and

Rodeo but are also to be found along the strip of water from Crockett to

Richmond.


















 




CHAPTER IV. PIONEER CITIZENS




 




Antedating

all other pioneers of Contra Costa County were Francisco Castro and Ignacio

Martinez. They came in 1823, Castro settling at the present site of San Pablo,

and Martinez at Pinole. They each acquired four leagues of land from the

Mexican Government, and these ranchos they improved the following year by

building adobe residences, planting vineyards and orchards, and building

corrals for their live-stock.




The San

Pablo rancho contained 19,394.40 acres, and the Pinole rancho extended over

17,786.49 acres. Both reared families whose descendants today rank high in the

citizenship of Contra Costa County. Martinez, the county seat, was named for

the Martinez family.




DOCTOR

JOHN MARSH 




The

first American settler in Contra Costa was Doctor John Marsh. He achieved much

distinction from his letters and descriptive articles, which gave a graphic

portrayal of the primitive conditions as he found them. To his facile pen

California historians, and Contra Costa County historians especially, are

indebted for much of their data relating to the early period.




Doctor

Marsh was descended from an old New England family, and was a graduate of

Harvard College. Born in Danvers, Massachusetts, in 1799, he came west and

conducted a mercantile business in St. Joseph, Missouri, from 1828 until 1835.

During the latter year he started on horseback for the Far West, eventually

becoming one of an exploring party which visited the Mexican states of

Chihuahua and Sonora, thence crossing the Gila River and entering California on

the southern border.




Portions

of the life history of Doctor Marsh read like a romance, as will be seen from

an incident that occurred while on the journey west.




Inadvertently

wandering away from his party, he was captured on the plains by the Indians

while they were in the midst of exorcising an evil spirit. They were determined

to offer him as a sacrifice, and he was saved only by wooing and marrying the

chief's pretty daughter, who interceded for him in much the same manner as did

Pocahontas for Captain John Smith. Sometime afterward the band crossed the old

Santa Fe trail and Doctor Marsh escaped, having the good fortune to fall in

with a caravan which finally landed him in California.




For a

while he resided in Los Angeles, but in 1837 he obtained from the Mexican

Government a grant of land at the foot of Mount Diablo, now the center of

Contra Costa County. Here he made his permanent home. He described his tract as

being about twelve miles long and about ten miles broad. The Doctor first lived

in an adobe building, but later he built the home which afterward became famous

as the Stone House. It is situated about four miles from Brentwood. The

following description of the Marsh home is taken from the San Francisco

Bulletin of July 19, 1856: "The new and beautiful edifice, now nearly

completed, is situated in the center of the plain. It is the intention of the

proprietor to irrigate this plain by artificial means, using the water of the

brook for that purpose. By this process the whole plain in front of the house

may be enameled with flowers, or, in process of time, may be dotted with trees,

and become a beautiful and extensive park, as the taste of the owner may

determine. From a quarry which has been opened upon the estate, an abundant

supply of stone for the building has been obtained. It is of the finest quality

of freestone, of a beautiful drab or cream color, slightly variegated. The

building is quite an architectural gem. The architect, Thomas Boyd, of San

Francisco, with a true artistic perception of the beauty of the site, and of

what was wanting in the building to make it harmonize with the surrounding

scenery, has departed from the stereotyped square box with a piazza running

partly or entirely round it, called a house in California, and has adopted the

old English domestic style of architecture—a pleasing and appropriate union of

manor-house and castle. The arched windows, the peaked roofs and gables, the

projecting eaves, the central tower, sixty-five feet in height, boldly

springing from the midst and enabling the proprietor to overlook his extensive

domain, must be acknowledged by every visitor to be a most felicitous deviation

from the prevailing style of rural architecture. The material used is as easily

wrought as the Benicia stone in use here, and, like it, hardens by exposure to

the air. The corners of the building, as well as the door and window-jambs,

sills, and caps, are elaborately wrought, the spaces between the openings being

laid with rubble-stone, giving a pleasing variety to the whole exterior. The

building has a ground base of sixty by forty feet, and is three stories in

height, with three gable windows in the attic looking east, west, and south. On

three sides of the building is a piazza, ten feet in width, supported by

beautiful octagon pillars; over this is a walk on a level with the second

floor, enclosed by an elaborately finished balustrade. The interior

arrangements are as carefully planned as possible to subserve the purposes of

convenience, comfort, and beautiful finish. The whole cost of the building, it

is understood, will not exceed twenty thousand dollars."




The

Stone House remained intact until 1868; it was partially destroyed by the great

earthquake of that year. It was afterward restored and stands today as one of

Contra Costa County's most cherished historic monuments.




Doctor

Marsh was eminently successful as a rancher. Great herds of cattle thrived on

his broad acres and added to his prosperity. Although for some years he lived a

solitary life—his nearest neighbors were from ten to forty miles

away—doubtless, with his scholarly attainments he was not lonely. His keen mind

and shrewd observation were busily gathering information, which was afterward

to enrich the literature of the period. He was a cultivated French and Spanish

scholar and is said to have had a deeper insight into French and Spanish

manners than any other person of the time. In appearance Doctor Marsh was tall

and commanding. He was athletic as a young man, and he remained active and

alert throughout his eventful life. Versatile and many-sided, his mind was as

young as his body.




Doctor

Marsh had passed the half-century mark without finding a mate. Then, in 1851,

Romance claimed him for her own. After the briefest of courtships he was

married to Miss Abbie Tuck, of Chelmsford, Massachusetts. She had left her home

in 1850, braving the dangers of a voyage to California, and came to Santa

Clara. During the following year, while visiting Contra Costa County, she met

the Doctor, and they were married two weeks later.




On

September 24, 1856, Doctor Marsh was foully and brutally murdered and robbed

while driving in his buggy on the road from his ranch to Martinez, thirty miles

distant. The next morning his horse and empty buggy were found in Martinez, and

a few hours later his body was discovered in a ditch by the roadside. He had

been stabbed in the left side, about the face and hands, and, as a crowning act

of viciousness, his throat had been cut. Three Mexicans committed the crime,

according to the confession of Jose Olivas, who admitted being one of the trio.

The other two were Juan Garcia and Felipe Moreno, the latter a youth of only

nineteen. Olivas maintained that the actual crime was committed by Moreno, and

that he himself and Garcia were only accessories. Olivas was captured the next

day, and, after making a confession, escaped on the following day. It was ten

years before he was recaptured. Moreno was equally successful in eluding the

law but was finally taken near Sacramento about the same time that Olivas was

caught. He was sentenced to life imprisonment in 1867. Because of his staunch

assertion that he had taken no part in the actual commission of the crime,

Olivas received a lighter sentence. Juan Garcia was never found.




The

following article, written by Doctor Marsh and published in the New Orleans

Picayune in 1846, is so fine an example of his graphic style and is so replete

with information of the period that it is well worth reproducing here in full:

"Messrs. Editors: Certain willful, malicious and ill-disposed neighbors of

mine have entered into a conspiracy against me. They have, for some time past,

instigated no doubt by their indolence and evil dispositions, been teasing me

to write articles for newspapers in the United States. They represented to me

that the people there are very desirous to have correct information relative to

California, and that they cannot easily obtain it. That although several works

on this country have recently been published they are not entitled to implicit

confidence, either because the writers were hasty travelers, unacquainted with

the language of the inhabitants, and not possessed of the requisite

information, or that these works were published to answer a particular purpose,

which was not exactly that of the naked truth. As I have heretofore thought it

better to attend to my own business rather than undertake to enlighten the

people of the United States about California, these same ill-disposed neighbors

of mine have undertaken to place me under an interdict. They declare that

unless I will write articles for the American newspapers none of the said

newspapers shall reach me. Now, as these enemies of mine live in Monterey,

where foreign intelligence first arrives, they have actually stopped my

newspapers, and I am thus compelled to write, or not have the privilege of

reading the news. You will perceive, therefore, that if my effusions are

worthless the fault is not mine, but of those who have forced me to write

against my will. I have hesitated to what journal to address my precious

communications, but have finally selected the Picayune, because we consider it

the best for Mexican and Texan news, in which we feel a deep interest, and

partly because we have a sort of fellow-feeling for Mr. Kendall, on account of

his romantic pilgrimage to New and Old Mexico.




"The

European who first saw California was Grijalva, who commanded a naval

expedition fitted out by Cortez the Conqueror, in the year 1534. He discovered

the southern part of Lower California, which he supposed to be an island, and

this opinion was for a long time entertained by the Spaniards. Lower, or Old

California, is for the most part an uninhabited and uninhabitable desert, as

remarkable for its extent and sterility as Upper California is for its

fertility and beauty. The country now known as Upper California was discovered

by Juan Rodriguez Cabrillo, in the year 1542. The first settlement of the

Spaniards in the territory was begun at the port of San Diego, on the first of

May, 1769. The first governor of Upper California was Don Gaspar de Portola, a

captain of dragoons in the Spanish army. The first attempts at settlements were

made by founding missions, which were gradually extended along the coast toward

the north, wherever suitable situations could be found. The last of these

missions that was attempted was at Sonoma, which was begun about twenty-five

years ago. It was nipped in the bud by the revolutions that severed Mexico from

the crown of Spain. These missions, as long as the Spanish power lasted, were

in a most flourishing condition, possessed nearly all the good lands in the

country, and were occupied by upward of twenty thousand converted Indians.

Since the revolution these missions, like everything else in the Mexican

territory, have gone rapidly to decay. At present most of them are entirely

abolished, their immense wealth dissipated, and the lands apportioned out among

private individuals. It has been usual to state the population of Upper

California at five thousand persons of Spanish descent and twenty thousand

Indians. This estimate may have been near the truth twenty years ago. At

present the population may be stated in round numbers at seven thousand

Spaniards and ten thousand civilized, or rather domesticated, Indians. To this

may be added about seven hundred Americans, one hundred English, Irish, and

Scotch, and about one hundred French, Germans, and Italians. Within the

territorial limits of Upper California, taking the parallel of forty-two

degrees for the northern and the Colorado for the southeastern boundaries, are

an immense number of wild, naked brute Indians. Their number, of course, can

only be conjectured. They probably exceed a million, and may possibly amount to

double that number.




"The

climate of California is remarkably different from that of the United States.

This difference consists mainly in its regularity and uniformity. From May to

October the wind is invariably from the northwest, and during this time it

never rains and the sky is brilliant, clear, and serene. The weather during

this time is temperate, and rarely oppressively warm. The nights are agreeably

cool, and many of the inhabitants sleep in the open air the year round. From

October to May the wind blows frequently from the southeast and is always

followed by rain. Snow never falls except on the mountains, and frost is rare

except in December and January. A proof of the mildness of the climate this

moment presents itself in the shape of a humming-bird, which I just saw from

the open window, and this on the first day of February, in latitude

thirty-eight degrees. Wheat is sown from October until March, and maize from

March to July. As regards human health and comfort, the climate is incomparably

better than that of any part of the United States. It is much the most healthy

country I have ever seen or have any knowledge of. There is absolutely no

disease whatever that can be attributed to the influence of the climate. The

whole territory is traversed by ranges of mountains, which run parallel to each

other and to the coast. The highest points may be about four thousand feet

above the level of the sea; in most places much lower, and in many parts they

dwindle to low hills. They are everywhere covered with grass and vegetation,

and many of the valleys and northern declivities abound with finest timber

trees. Between these ranges of mountains are level valleys, or rather plains,

of every width, from five miles to fifty. The magnificent valley through which

flow the San Joaquin and Sacramento rivers, is five hundred miles long, with an

average width of forty or fifty. It is intersected laterally by many smaller

rivers abounding with salmon.




The

whole region abounds with vast herds of wild horses, elk, and antelope. The

only inhabitants of this vast valley (which is capable of supporting a nation)

are about one hundred and fifty Americans and a few miserable Indians. The Bay

of San Francisco, into which all these rivers flow, and which is the natural

outlet of all this region, is considered by nautical men as one of the finest

harbors in the world. It consists of two principal arms, diverging from the

entrance in nearly opposite directions, and each about fifty miles long, with

an average width of eight or ten miles. It is perfectly sheltered from every

wind, has great depth of water, is easily accessible at all times, and has

space enough to contain half the ships in the world. The entrance is less than

a mile wide and could easily be fortified so as to make it entirely

impregnable.




The

vicinity abounds in the finest timber for ship-building and in fact everything

necessary to make it a great naval and commercial depot. Near the entrance of

this magnificent harbor, within the last seven years, has grown up the

flourishing town of Yerba Buena, built and inhabited entirely by Americans and

Englishmen.




"The

agricultural capabilities of California are as yet imperfectly developed. It is

well adapted to the productions of Spain, Portugal, and Italy, and the region lying

in similar latitudes on the western coast of Europe. The whole of it is

remarkably adapted to the culture of the vine. Brandy and wine of excellent

quality are already made in considerable quantities; olives, figs, and almonds

grow well; apples, pears, and peaches produce abundantly, and, in the southern

part, oranges. Cotton is beginning to be cultivated and promises to succeed

well. It is the finest country for wheat I have ever seen. Fifty for one is

about the average crop, with very imperfect cultivation. One hundred-fold is

not uncommon, and even one hundred and fifty has been produced. Maize grows

tolerably well, but not equal to that in some parts of the United States. Hemp,

flax, and tobacco have been cultivated on a small scale and succeed well. The

rearing of cattle is at present the principal pursuit of the inhabitants, and

the most profitable. As a pastoral country California is unsurpassed, and

perhaps unequaled, in the world. The pasturage is most abundant and of very

excellent quality. No less than seven kinds of clover are indigenous here, and

four of them are unknown in the United States. Oats grow spontaneously all over

the coast, throughout its whole extent. In one place, near the river Merced, a

little barley was accidentally scattered by a traveler, and it has continued to

reproduce itself for fifteen years. I have known five successive crops of wheat

in as many years from one sowing. All kinds of grasses, as well as the cereal

gramma, produce an uncommon quantity of seed, and this is probably the reason

why cattle do not reach their greatest degree of fatness until about a month

after the grass is dry.




"If

these desultory remarks on some of the topics relative to this country should

be found to contain interest for your readers, at some future time you may

expect to hear something of the commerce of the country, its great mineral

wealth, its political history (a most fruitful theme), and of the manners and

customs of its inhabitants, from one of your fellow-citizens who has been here more

than ten years and has taken some pains to become acquainted with the country

he has selected for his home."




The

above communication was signed "Essex," and was dated February, 1846.

To those who are familiar with present-day conditions in California the

statements of Doctor Marsh, written over seventy years ago, seem most

prophetic.




 




ELAM

BROWN 




Second

among the American trail-blazers of Contra Costa County was Elam Brown. He had

a varied and adventurous life, no small portion of which was spent in Contra

Costa County, in whose affairs he played an important part.




He was

born in Herkimer County, New York, June 10, 1797. The hardy traits of the

pioneer were his birthright. As a child twelve months old he experienced his

first migration when his parents moved to Berkshire, Massachusetts. When he was

seven they came west to Ohio, where they braved numerous hardships in true

pioneer style.




To the

north of their little settlement, which they named Berkshire, for the home they

had left in Massachusetts, the nearest settlement was one hundred miles away,

on the shore of Lake Erie. To the south the nearest settlement was fifteen

miles distant. In Berkshire the lad first dipped into books, and, although his

opportunities were few, he developed a taste for literature that remained with

him through life.




In 1818,

at the age of twenty-one, he set out on foot for the French trading-post of St.

Louis, Missouri, five hundred miles away. During the following winter he rafted

unsuccessfully on the Missouri River.




Then he

went to Illinois, where he farmed on shares for the next three years, during

which time he married the daughter of Thomas Allen.




His next

venture was in moving west to what was known as the Platte Purchase, a tract of

land bordering on the Missouri River, acquired by the Government from the

Indians in 1836. There he cleared one hundred and eighty acres of land, on

which he resided for ten years. It was there that his first wife died. He then

determined to emigrate to the Pacific Coast, and in 1846 he headed a company

and started on the long journey westward across the plains. He was appointed

captain of the fourteen families that left the Missouri on May 14. They had

innumerable adventures, and Captain Elam Brown was equal to every emergency.

More than once his diplomatic treatment of the Indians averted disaster. On one

occasion a large force of hostile braves menaced their path, but Elam Brown

came forward and smoked the pipe of peace with their chieftains. Then he

signaled for the Indians to open their lines. They did so and the wagon-train

passed through unmolested. The party forded all the rivers, as there was not

one ferry or bridge on their entire journey. The stout-hearted little band

entered California October 10, 1846, and toward the end of the same month they

arrived at the present site of Sacramento, continuing thence to Santa Clara,

where most of the party settled.




Scarcely

rested from the long trek across the continent, Elam Brown sought for fresh

fields of adventure. He joined the forces under General John C. Fremont which

were fighting General Castro, in an echo of the Mexican war in central

California. He also took an active part in suppressing the Mexican freebooter,

Sanchez. The winter of 1847 ne spent in the San Antonio redwoods, whipsawing lumber

and boating his product across the bay to San Francisco.




It was

difficult at this time to buy land in California. The Mexican residents were

solemnly pledged not to sell a foot of ground or give any information regarding

land. But in the fall Elam Brown finally learned that William A. Leidesdorff, a

San Francisco trader, had a ranch for sale. This was the Rancho Alcalanes,

where the present town of Lafayette is situated. The ranch was stocked with

three hundred head of cattle. This tract became the permanent home of Elam

Brown in Contra Costa County. He soon became enthusiastic over its

possibilities. He was especially pleased with the mild California winters, in

marked contrast with the severe snow-storms of the East. It was his first

experience in a land where it was not necessary to feed cattle through the

winter months.




Up to

this time there was no government in California, except the military rule of

Colonel Mason. On account of dissension over the slavery question, Congress had

taken no steps toward the formation of a State. In 1848 General Riley

superseded Mason. He straightway issued a proclamation authorizing the people

to elect delegates to a constitutional convention.




The

convention met in Monterey September 1, 1849. Elam Brown was one of the thirty-seven

delegates who framed the constitution. These delegates had come from nearly

every State in the Union. They were the virile immigrants who had the courage

to seek their fortunes in a new land. With but few statute-books to guide them,

they framed a constitution that admirably stood the test of time for nearly

thirty years.




California

had become a State, but, because of the slavery agitation, Congress refused to

recognize her as such. It was not until 1850 that California was admitted to

the Union, enjoying the distinction of never having had a territorial

government. Throughout this period Elam Brown served the State ably and

unceasingly. He was a member of the first two sessions of the legislature and

was urged to run for the United States Senate. But he felt that the destinies

of his State by adoption had been safely guided past the critical point and he

retired to pastoral scenes. There on the Rancho Alcalanes the stalwart pioneer

rounded out his days to a venerable age.




FELIX

COATS 




As the

years go by the pioneers of Contra Costa County are one by one answering the

last roll-call, and few of the early trail-blazers now remain. The latest

summons by death was on June 10, 1916, when Felix Grundy Coats, of Tassajara,

was called. The end came to the pioneer at his home after an illness extending

over a period of several weeks and was directly due to the infirmities of old

age.




Felix

Grundy Coats was a native of Callaway County, Missouri, where he was born on

August 9, 1828, being at his death nearly eighty-eight years old. In May, 1849,

with a number of emigrants, he left Missouri for California, and in September

of the same year the party arrived at Grass Valley. Felix Coats then began

mining on the American River, and later operated a pack-train between

Sacramento and Stony Bar. In the fall of 1852 he came to Contra Costa County

and remained a short time, returning to the mines. In the following year he

returned to Contra Costa County, purchasing the ranch of three hundred and

ninety acres in Tassajara, where he resided the remainder of his days.




On

February 23, 1860, Felix Coats married Miss Lavina Doggett, of Tassajara. Three

sons and three daughters survive their father. They are W. Nolan Coats, of St.

Helena; James L. Coats, internal revenue inspector, of Stockton; Bethel S.

Coats, of San Jose; Mrs. Ella Seiler and Mrs. Jennie White, of San Francisco;

and Mrs. Mary Horton, of Tassajara.


















 





CHAPTER V. THE BEAR FLAG WAR 





In the

early part of the last century California would appear to have found extreme

favor in the jealous eyes of three great powers. We have elsewhere shown what

the Russians did on the coast, and how they actually gained a foothold at

Bodega and Fort Ross, Sonoma County.




In the

year 1818 Governor Sola received a communication from Friar Marquinez, of

Guadalajara, Spain, wherein he informed his excellency of the rumors of war

between the United States and Spain, while in February of the following year

Father Jose Sanchez wrote to the same official that there is a report abroad of

the fitting out of an American expedition into New Mexico. Both of these

epistles remark that California is the coveted prize. Great Britain wanted it,

it is said, for several reasons, the chief of which was that in the possession

of so extended a coast-line she would have the finest harbors in the world for

her fleets. This desire would appear to have been still manifested in 1840, for

we find in February of that year, in the New York Express, the following:

"The rumor has reached New Orleans from Mexico of the cession to England

of the Californias. The cession of the two provinces would give to Great

Britain an extensive and valuable territory in a part of the world where she

has long been anxious to gain a foothold, besides securing an object still more

desirable—a spacious range of seacoast on the Pacific, stretching more than

eight thousand miles from the forty-second degree of latitude south, sweeping

the peninsula of California, and embracing the harbors of that gulf, the finest

in North America."




These

rumors, so rife between the years of 1842 and 1846, necessitated the

maintenance of a large and powerful fleet by both Americans and British on the

Pacific Ocean, each closely observing the other. The first move in the deep

game on the part of the United States was in September, 1842, by Commodore Ap

Catesby Jones. He became possessed of two newspapers which appear to have

caused him to take immediate action. One of these, published in New Orleans,

stated that California had been ceded by Mexico to Great Britain in

consideration of the sum of seven millions of dollars; the other, a Mexican

publication, caused him to believe that war had been declared between the two

countries. The sudden departure of two of the British vessels strengthened him

in this belief, and that they were en route for Panama to embark soldiers from

the West Indies for the occupation of California.




To

forestall this move of "perfidious Albion," Commodore Jones left

Callao, Peru, on September 7, 1842, crowding all sail, ostensibly for the port

of Monterey, but when two days out his squadron hove to, a council of the

captains of the flag-ship "Cyane" and the "Dale" was held,

when the decision was come to that possession should be taken of California at

all hazards, and abide by the consequences, whatever they might be. The

accompanying letter from an officer of the "Dale," dated at Panama

September 23, 1842, tells its own story: "We sailed from Callao on the 7th

of September, in company with the 'United States' and 'Cyane' sloop, but on the

tenth day out, the 17th, separated, and bore up for this port. Just previous to

our departure, two British ships-of-war, the razee 'Dublin,' fifty guns, and

the sloopof-war 'Champion,' eighteen guns, sailed thence on secret service. This

mysterious movement of Admiral Thomas elicited a hundred comments and

conjectures as to his destination, the most probable of which seemed to be that

he was bound for the northwest coast of Mexico, where it is surmised that a

British settlement (station) is to be located in accordance with a secret

convention between the Mexican and English governments, and it is among the on

dits in the squadron that the frigate 'United States,' 'Cyane,' and 'Dale' are

to rendezvous as soon as possible at Monterey, to keep an eye on John Bull's

movements in that quarter."




These

rumors were all strengthened by the fact that eight hundred troops had been

embarked at Mazatlan in February, 1842, by General Micheltorena, to assist the

English, it was apprehended, to carry out the secret treaty whereby California

was to be handed over to Great Britain. Of these troops, who were mostly

convicts, Micheltorena lost a great number by desertion, and, after much delay

and vexation, marched out of Mazatlan on July 25, 1842, with only four hundred

and fifty men, arriving at San Diego on August 25th. Between Los Angeles and

Santa Barbara, with his army reduced from desertion to but three hundred men,

at 11 o'clock on the night of October 24th, he received the astounding

intelligence that Commodore Jones had entered the port of Monterey, with the

frigate "United States" and the corvette "Cyane," landed an

armed force, hauled down the Mexican flag, hoisted the American in its place,

and issued a proclamation declaring California to be henceforth belonging to

the United States. These startling occurrences took place on October 19, 1842.

On the 28th the Commodore reflected on his latest achievement, and becoming

convinced that an error had been committed, he lowered the American ensign,

replaced it with that of Mexico, and on the following day saluted it, sailed

for Mazatlan, and reported his proceedings to Washington.




On

hearing of the capture of Monterey the Mexican general withdrew to the mission

of San Fernando, and there remained for some time, where he finally, on the

horizon being cleared, transferred his staff to Los Angeles, and there

entertained Commodore Jones on January 19,1843.




The

recall of Jones was demanded by the Mexican minister at Washington, which was

complied with, and Captain Alexander J. Dallas instructed to relieve him of the

command of the Pacific squadron. Dallas at once proceeded to Callao via Panama,

to assume his new functions, and on arrival took the "Erie," an old

store-ship, and proceeded in search of the Commodore, who had in the meantime

received intelligence of the turn affairs had taken, kept steering from port to

port, and finally, after touching at Valparaiso, Chile, he sailed for home

around Cape Horn. The reign of Captain Dallas was short; he died on board the frigate

"Savannah," at Callao, June 3, 1844, and was succeeded by Commodore

John Drake Sloat.




Between

the years 1844 and 1846 the American and British fleets keenly watched each

other and anxiously awaited the declaration of war between Mexico and the United

States. During this time the revolution which drove General Micheltorena and

his army from California had broken out and been quelled, while the Oregon

boundary and the annexation of Texas were questions which kept the naval

authorities at fever heat.




Let us

now leave these American and British sailors with their mighty ships jealously

watching the movements of each other, to consider the doings of one who before

long was to take a prominent part in the affairs of California.




In the

month of March, 1845, Brevet-Captain John Charles Fremont departed from

Washington for the purpose of organizing a third expedition for the

topographical survey of Oregon and California, having finished which, he left

Bent's Fort on or about the 16th of April, his command consisting of sixty-two

men, six of whom were Delaware Indians. It is not our wish here, nor indeed

have we the space, to tell of the hardships endured and the perilous journeys

made by Fremont, Kit Carson, Theodore Talbot, and others of that band, whose

wanderings have formed the theme of many a ravishing tale; our duty will permit

only of defining the part taken by them in regard to our special subject.




About

June 1, 1846, General Jose Castro, with Lieutenant Francisco de Arci, his

secretary, left the Santa Clara Mission, where they had ensconced themselves

after pursuing Fremont from that district, and, passing through Yerba Buena

(San Francisco), crossed the bay to the mission of San Rafael, and there

collected a number of horses, which he directed Arci to take to Sonoma, with as

many more as he could capture on the way, and from there proceed with all haste

to the Santa Clara Mission by way of Knight's Landing and Sutter's Fort. These

horses were intended to be used against Fremont and Governor Pio Pico by Castro,

both of whom had defied his authority. On June 5th Castro moved from Santa

Clara to Monterey, and on the 12th, while on his return, was met by a courier

bearing the intelligence that Lieutenant Arci had been surprised and taken

prisoner on the 10th by a band of adventurers, who had seized a large number of

the horses which he had in charge for the headquarters at Santa Clara. Here was

a dilemma. Castro's education in writing had been sadly neglected—it is said he

could only paint his signature—and being without his amanuensis, he at once

returned to Monterey, and on June 12th dictated a letter through ex-Governor

Juan B. Alvarado to the prefect, Manuel Castro, saying that the time had come

when their differences should be laid aside and conjoint action taken for the

defense and protection of their common country, at the same time asking that he

should collect all the men and horses possible and send them to Santa Clara. He

then returned to his headquarters, and on the 17th promulgated a soul-stirring

proclamation to the settlers.




When

Lieutenant Arci left Sonoma with the caballada of horses and mares, crossing

the dividing ridge, he passed up the Sacramento Valley to Knight's Landing, on

the left bank of the Sacramento River, about fifteen miles north of the present

city of Sacramento. When Lieutenant Arci reached the ferry, or crossing, he met

Mrs. Knight, to whom, on account of her being a New Mexican by birth, and

therefore thought to be trustworthy, he confided the secret of the expedition.

Such knowledge was too much for an ordinary feminine bosom to contain. She told

her husband, and he, in assisting the officer to cross with his horses, gave

him fair words, so that suspicion might be lulled, and then, striding his

fleetest horse, made direct for Captain Fremont's camp at the confluence of the

Feather and Yuba rivers, where he arrived early in the morning of June 9th.

Here Knight, who found some twenty settlers that had arrived earlier than he

discussing matters, communicated to Captain Fremont and the settlers that

Lieutenant Arci had the evening before crossed at his landing, bound to Santa

Clara via the Cosumne River; that Arci had told Mrs. Knight in confidence that

the animals were intended to be used by Castro in expelling the American

settlers from the country; and that it was also the intention to fortify the

Bear River Pass above the rancho of William Johnson, thereby putting a stop to

all immigration, a move of Castro's that was strengthened by the return to

Sutter's Fort on June 7th of a force that had gone out to chastise the

Mokelumne Indians, who had been threatening to burn the settlers' crops,

incited thereto, presumably, by Castro.




Fremont,

while encamped at The Buttes, was visited by nearly all the settlers, and from

them gleaned vast stores of fresh information hitherto unknown to him. This

information was to the effect that the greater proportion of foreigners in the

country had become Mexican citizens, and married native women for the sake of

procuring land, and through them had become possessed of deep secrets supposed

to be known only to the prominent Californians. It was also reported that a

convention had been held at the San Juan Mission to decide which of the two

nations, America or Great Britain, should guarantee protection to California

against all others for certain privileges and considerations.




Lieutenant

Revere says: "I have been favored by an intelligent member of the Junta

with the following authentic report of the substance of Pico's speech to that

illustrious body of statesmen: "'Excellent Sirs: To what a deplorable

condition is our country reduced! Mexico, professing to be our mother and our

protectress, has given us neither arms nor money, nor the material of war for

our defense. She is not likely to do anything in our behalf, although she is

quite willing to afflict us with her extortionate minions, who come hither in

the guise of soldiers and civil officers, to harass and oppress our people. We

possess a glorious country, capable of attaining a physical and moral greatness

corresponding with the grandeur and beauty which an Almighty hand has stamped

on the face of our beloved California. But, although nature has been prodigal,

it cannot be denied that we are not in a position to avail ourselves of her

bounties. Our population is not large, and it is sparsely scattered over valley

and mountain, covering an immense area of virgin soil, destitute of roads, and

traversed with difficulty; hence it is hardly possible to collect an army of

any considerable force. Our people are poor, as well as few, and cannot well

govern themselves and maintain a decent show of sovereign power. Although we

live in the midst of plenty, we lay up nothing, but tilling the earth in an

imperfect manner, all our time is required to provide subsistence for ourselves

and our families. Thus circumstanced, we find ourselves suddenly threatened by

hordes of Yankee emigrants, who have already begun to flock into our country,

and whose progress we cannot arrest. Already have the wagons of that perfidious

people scaled the almost inaccessible summits of the Sierra Nevada, crossed the

entire continent and penetrated the fruitful valley of the Sacramento. What

that astounding people will next undertake I cannot say, but in whatever

enterprise they will be sure to prove successful. Already are these adventurous

land voyagers spreading themselves far and wide over a country which seems

suited to their tastes.




They are

cultivating farms, establishing vineyards, erecting mills, sawing up lumber,

building workshops, and doing a thousand other things which seem natural to

them, but which Californians despise. What, then, are we to do? Shall we remain

supine while these daring strangers are overrunning our fertile plains and

gradually outnumbering and displacing us? Shall these incursions go on

unchecked, until we shall become strangers in our own land? We cannot

successfully oppose them by our own unaided power, and the swelling tide of

immigration renders the odds against us more formidable every day. We cannot

stand alone against them, nor can we creditably maintain our independence even

against Mexico; but there is something we can do which will elevate our

country, strengthen her at all points, and yet enable us to preserve our

identity and remain masters of our own soil. Perhaps what I am about to suggest

may seem to some faint-hearted and dishonorable, but to me it does not seem so.

It is the last hope of a feeble people, struggling against a tyrannical

government which claims their submission at home, and threatened by bands of

avaricious strangers from without, voluntarily to connect themselves with a

power able and willing to defend and preserve them. It is the right and the

duty of the weak to demand support from the strong, provided the demand be made

upon terms just to both parties. I see no dishonor in this last refuge of the

oppressed and powerless, and I boldly avow that such is the step that I would

have California take. There are two great powers in Europe which seem destined

to divide between them the unappropriated countries of the world. They have

large fleets and armies not unpracticed in the art of war. Is it not better to

connect ourselves with one of those powerful nations than to struggle on

without hope, as we are doing now? Is it not better that one of them should be

invited to send a fleet and an army, to defend and protect California, rather

than we should fall an easy prey to the lawless adventurers who are overrunning

our beautiful country? I pronounce for annexation to France or England, and the

people of California will never regret having taken my advice. They will no

longer be subjected to the trouble and grievous expense of governing

themselves; and their beef and their grain, which they produce in such

abundance, would find a ready market among the newcomers. But, I hear someone

say: "No monarchy"! But is not monarchy better than anarchy? Is not

existence in some shape better than annihilation. No monarch! And what is there

so terrible in a monarchy? Have we not all lived under a monarchy far more

despotic than that of France or England, and were not our people happy under

it? Have not the leading men among our agriculturists been bred beneath the

royal rule of Spain, and have they been happier since the mock Republic of

Mexico has supplied its place? Nay, does not every man abhor the miserable

abortion christened the Republic of Mexico, and look back with regret to the

golden days of the Spanish monarchy? Let us restore that glorious era. Then may

our people go quietly to their ranchos, and live there as of yore, leading a

thoughtless and merry life, untroubled by politics or cares of state, sure of

what is their own, and safe from the incursions of the Yankees, who would soon

be forced to retreat to their own country.'"




It was a

happy thing for California, and, as the sequel proved, for the views of the

Government of the United States, that a man was found at this juncture whose

ideals were more enlightened and consonant with the times than those of the

rulers of his country, both civil and military. Patriotism was half his soul;

he therefore could not silently witness the land of his birth sold to any

monarchy, however old; and he rightly judged that, although foreign protection

might postpone, it could not avert that assumption of power which was beginning

to make itself felt. Possessed at the time of no political power, and having

had few early advantages, still his position was so exalted and his character

so highly respected by both the foreign and native population, that he had been

invited to participate in the deliberations of the Junta. This man was Don

Mariano Guadalupe Vallejo. Born in California, he commenced his career in the

army as an alferez, or ensign, and in this humble grade he volunteered,

at the suggestion of the Mexican Government, with a command of fifty soldiers,

to establish a colony on the north side of the Bay of San Francisco, for the

protection of the frontier. He effectually subdued the hostile Indians

inhabiting that then remote region, and laid the foundation of a reputation for

integrity, judgment, and ability unequaled by any of his countrymen. Although

quite a young man, he had already filled the highest offices in the province

and had at this time retired to private life near his estate in the vicinity of

the town of Sonoma. He did not hesitate to oppose with all his strength the

views advanced by Pico and Castro.




He spoke

nearly as follows: "I cannot, gentlemen, coincide in opinion with the

military and civil functionaries who have advocated the cession of our country

to France or England. It is most true that to rely any longer on Mexico to

govern and defend us would be idle and absurd. To this extent I fully agree

with my distinguished colleagues. It is also true that we possess a noble

country, every way calculated from position and resources to become great and

powerful. For that very reason I would not have her a mere dependency upon a

foreign monarchy, naturally alien, or at least indifferent, to our interests

and our welfare. It is not to be denied that feeble nations have in former

times thrown themselves upon the protection of their powerful neighbors. The

Britons invoked the aid of the warlike Saxons, and fell an easy prey to their

protectors, who seized their lands and treated them like slaves. Long before

that time feeble and distracted provinces had appealed for aid to the

all-conquering arms of imperial Rome, and they were at the same time protected

and subjugated by their grasping ally. Even could we tolerate the idea of

dependence, ought we to go to distant Europe for a master? What possible

sympathy could exist between us and a nation separated from us by two vast

oceans? But waiving this insuperable objection, how could we endure to come

under the domination of a monarchy? For, although others speak lightly of a

form of government, as a freeman I cannot do so. We are republicans—badly

governed and badly situated as we are, still we are all, in sentiment,

republicans. So far as we are governed at all, we at least profess to be

self-governed. Who, then, that possesses true patriotism will consent to

subject himself and his children to the caprices of a foreign king and his

official minions? But, it is asked, if we do not throw ourselves upon the

protection of France or England, what shall we do? I do not come here to

support the existing order of things, but I come prepared to propose instant

and effective action to extricate our country from her present forlorn

condition. My opinion is made up that we must persevere in throwing off the

galling yoke of Mexico and proclaim our independence of her forever. We have

endured her official cormorants arid her villainous soldiery until we can

endure no longer. All will probably agree with me that we ought at once to rid

ourselves of what remains of Mexican domination. But some profess to doubt our

ability to maintain our position. To my mind there comes no doubt. Look at

Texas and see how long she withstood the power of united Mexico. The resources

of Texas are not to be compared with ours, and she was so much nearer to her

enemy than we are. Our position is so remote, either by land or sea, that we

are in no danger from Mexican invasion. Why, then, should we hesitate still to

assert our independence? We have indeed taken the first step, by electing our

own governor, but another remains to be taken. I will mention it plainly and

distinctly—it is annexation to the United States. In contemplating this

consummation of our destiny, I feel nothing but pleasure, and I ask you to

share it. Discard old prejudices, disregard old customs, and prepare for the

glorious change which awaits our country. Why should we shrink from

incorporating ourselves with the happiest, freest nation in the world, destined

soon to be the most wealthy and powerful? Why should we go abroad for protection

when this great nation is our adjoining neighbor? When we join our fortunes to

hers, we shall not become subjects but fellow-citizens, possessing all the

rights of the people of the United States, and choosing our own federal and

local rulers. We shall have a stable government and just laws. California will

grow strong and flourish, and her people will be prosperous, happy, and free.

Look not therefore with jealousy upon the hardy pioneers who scale our

mountains and cultivate our unoccupied plains, but rather welcome them as

brothers who come to share with us a common destiny."




Such was

the extent of General Vallejo's observations. Those who listened to him,

however, were far behind in general knowledge and intelligence. His arguments

failed to carry conviction to the greater number of his auditors. But the bold

position taken by him was the cause of an immediate adjournment of the Junta,

no result having been arrived at concerning the weighty affairs on which they

had met to deliberate. On his retiring from the Junta he embodied the views he

had expressed in a letter to Don Pio Pico and reiterated his refusal to

participate in any action having for its end the adoption of any protection

other than that of the United States. In this communication he also declared

that he would never serve under any government which was prepared to surrender

California to a European power. He then returned to his estates, there to await

the issue of events.




We left

William Knight at Fremont's camp, where he had arrived on the morning of June

9, 1846, imparting to that officer and the twenty settlers who had there

assembled information of Castro's intended attack. At ten o'clock that morning

a party of eleven men, under the oldest member, Ezekiel Merritt, started in

pursuit of Lieutenant Arci and his horses. On their arrival at Hock farm they

were joined by two more, and toward evening, having crossed the American River

at Sinclair's, reached the rancho of Allen Montgomery, sixty miles from

Fremont's camp at the Buttes, and there supped. Here they received intelligence

that Lieutenant Arci had reached Sutter's Fort on the 8th, and had that morning

resumed his march, intending to camp that night at the rancho of Martin Murphy,

twenty miles south of the Cosumne River. Supper finished and a short rest

indulged in, the party were once more in the saddle, being strengthened by the

addition of Montgomery and another man, making the total force fifteen. They

proceeded to within about five miles of Murphy's, and there lay concealed until

daylight, when they were again on the move, and continued to within half a mile

of the camp. Unperceived, they cautiously advanced to within a short distance,

and then suddenly charging, secured the lieutenant and his party, as well as

the horses. Lieutenant Arci was permitted to retain his sword, each of his

party was given a horse wherewith to reach Santa Clara, and a person traveling

with him was permitted to take six of the animals which he claimed as private

property.




The

lieutenant was then instructed to depart and say to his chief, General Castro,

that the remainder of the horses were at his disposal whenever he should wish

to come and take them. The Americans at once returned to Montgomery's with the

horses, and there breakfasted; that night, the 10th, they encamped twenty-seven

miles above Sutter's Fort on the rancho of Nicholas Allgier, a German, not far

from the mouth of Bear River, and in the morning, ascertaining that Fremont had

moved his camp hither from the Buttes, they joined him in the morning of the

11th, having traveled about one hundred and fifty miles in forty-eight hours.




On

arriving at Fremont's camp it was found that the garrison had been considerably

augmented by the arrival of more settlers, who were all ardently discussing the

events of the last two days and its probable results. After a full hearing it

was determined by them that, having gone so far, their only chance of safety

was in a rapid march to the town of Sonoma to effect its capture, and to

accomplish this before the news of the stoppage of Lieutenant Arci and his

horses could have time to reach that garrison. It was felt that should this

design prove successful all further obstacles to the eventual capture of the

country would have vanished. The daring band then reorganized, still retaining,

in his position of captain, Ezekiel Merritt. At three o'clock in the afternoon

of June 12th, under their leader, they left Fremont's camp for Sonoma, one

hundred and twenty miles distant, and, traveling all night, passed the rancho

of William Gordon, about ten miles from the present town of Woodland, Yolo

County, who they desired to inform all Americans that could be trusted of their

intention. At nine o'clock in the morning of the 13th they reached Captain John

Grigsby's, at the head of Napa Valley, and were joined by William L. Todd,

William Scott, and others. Here the company, which now mustered thirty-three

men, was reorganized and addressed by Dr. Robert Semple. Not desiring, however,

to reach Sonoma until daylight, they halted here till midnight, when they once

more resumed their march, and before it was yet the dawn of June 14th,

surprised and captured the garrison of Sonoma, consisting of six soldiers, nine

pieces of artillery, and some small arms, etc., "all private property

being religiously respected; and in generations to come their children's

children may look back with pride and pleasure upon the commencement of a

revolution which was carried on by their fathers' fathers upon principles as

high and holy as the laws of eternal justice."




Their

distinguished prisoners were General Mariano Guadalupe Vallejo,

Lieutenant-Colonel Victor Prudon, Captain Don Salvador Mundo Vallejo, brother

to General Vallejo, and Mr. Jacob Primer Leese, brother-in-law to General

Vallejo.




We now

lay before the reader the account of this episode, as described by General

Vallejo at the centennial exercises held at Santa Rosa, Sonoma County, July 4,

1876: "I have now to say something of the epoch which inaugurated a new

era for this country. A little before dawn on June 14, 1846, a party of hunters

and trappers, with some foreign settlers, under command of Captain Merritt,

Doctor Semple, and William B. Ide, surrounded my residence at Sonoma, and

without firing a shot made prisoners of myself, then commander of the northern

frontier, of Lieutenant-Colonel Victor Prudon, Captain Salvador Vallejo, and

Jacob P. Leese. I should here state that down to October, 1845, I had

maintained at my own expense a respectable garrison at Sonoma, which often, in

union with the settlers, did good service in campaigns against the Indians; but

at last, tired of spending money which the Mexican Government never refunded, I

disbanded the force, and most of the soldiers who had constituted it left

Sonoma. Thus in June, 1846, the plaza was entirely unprotected, although there

were ten pieces of artillery, with other arms and munitions of war. The parties

who unfurled the Bear Flag were well aware that Sonoma was without defense and

lost no time in taking advantage of this fact and carrying out their plans.

Years before, I had urgently represented to the government of Mexico the

necessity of stationing a sufficient force on the frontier, else Sonoma would

be lost, which would be equivalent to leaving the rest of the country an easy

prey to the invader. What think you, my friends, were the instructions sent me

in reply to my repeated demands for means to fortify the country?




These

instructions were that I should at once force the immigrants to recross the

Sierra Nevada and depart from the territory of the republic. To say nothing of

the inhumanity of these orders, their execution was physically

impossible—first, because the immigrants came in autumn, when snow covered the

Sierra so quickly as to make a return impracticable. Under the circumstances,

not only 1, but Comandante General Castro, resolved to provide the immigrants

with letters of security, that they might remain temporarily in the country. We

always made a show of authority, but well convinced all the time that we had no

power to resist the invasion which was coming upon us. With the frankness of a

soldier, I can assure you that the American immigrants never had cause to

complain of the treatment they received at the hands of either authorities or

citizens. They carried us as prisoners to Sacramento and kept us in a calaboose

for sixty days or more, until the authority of the United States made itself

respected, and the honorable and humane Commodore Stockton returned us to our

hearths."




On the

seizure of their prisoners the revolutionists at once took steps to appoint a

captain, who was found in the person of John Grigsby, for Ezekiel Merritt did

not wish to retain the permanent command. A meeting was then called at the

barracks, situated at the northeast corner of the plaza, under the presidency

of William B. Ide, Doctor Semple being secretary. At this conference Semple

urged the independence of the country, stating that having once commenced they

must proceed, for to turn back was certain death. Before the dissolution of the

convention, however, rumors were rife that secret emissaries were being

dispatched to the Mexican rancheros to inform them of the recent occurrences;

therefore, to prevent any attempt at a rescue, it was deemed best to transfer

their prisoners to Sutter's Fort, where the danger of such would be less.




Before

transferring their prisoners, however, a treaty, or agreement, was entered into

between the captives and the captors, which will appear in the annexed

documents kindly furnished to us by General Vallejo, and which have never

before been given to the public. The first is in English, signed by the

principal actors in the revolution, and reads: "We, the undersigned,

having resolved to establish a government upon republican principles, in

connection with others of our fellow-citizens, and having taken up arms to

support it, we have taken three Mexican officers as prisoners, M. G. Vallejo,

Lieut. Col. Victor Prudon, and Captain D. Salvador Vallejo; having formed and

published to the world no regular plan of government, feel it our duty to say

that it is not our intention to take or injure any person who is not found in

opposition to the cause, nor will we take or destroy the property of private

individuals further than is necessary for our immediate support.




"EZEKIEL

MERRITT, 




"R.

Semple, 




"William

Fallon, 




"Samuel

Kelsey."




The

second, in the Spanish language, reads as follows: "Conste pr. la preste.

qe. habiendo sido sorprendido pr. una numeros a fuerza armada qe. me tomo

prisonero y a los gefes y oficiales qe. estaban de guarnicion en esta plaza de

la qe. se apodero la espresada fuerza, habiendola encontrado absolutamte.

indefensa, tanto yo. como los S. S. oficiales qe. suscribero comprometemos

nuestra palabra de honor de qe. estando bajo las garantias de prisionero de

guerra, no tomaremos las armas ni a favor ni contra repetida fuerza armada de

quien hemos recibiro la intimacion del momto. y un escrito firmado qe.

garantiza nuestras vidas, familias de intereses, y los de todo el vecindario de

esta jurisdn. mientras no hagamos oposicion. Sonoma, Junio 14 de 1846. 




"VcR

Prudon        M G Vallejo, 




"Salvador

Vallejo."




But let

us proceed with our narrative of the removal of General Vallejo, his brother,

and Prudon to Sutter's Fort. A guard, consisting of William B. Ide, as captain,

Captain Grigsby, Captain Merritt, Kit Carson, William Hargrave, and five others

left Sonoma for Sutter's Fort with their prisoners upon horses actually

supplied by General Vallejo himself. We are told that on the first night after

leaving Sonoma with their prisoners the revolutionists, with singular inconsistency,

encamped and went to sleep without setting sentinel or guard; that during the

night they were surrounded by a party under command of Juan de Padilla, who

crept up stealthily and awoke one of the prisoners, telling him that there was

with him close at hand a strong, well-armed force of rancheros, who, if need

be, could surprise and slay the Americans before there was time for them to fly

to arms, but that he (Padilla) before giving such instructions, awaited the

orders of General Vallejo, whose rank entitled him to the command of any such

demonstration.




The

general was cautiously aroused and the scheme divulged to him, but with a

self-sacrifice which cannot be too highly commended answered that he should go

voluntarily with his guardians, that he anticipated a speedy and satisfactory

settlement of the whole matter, advised Padilla to return to his rancho and

disperse his band, and positively refused to permit any violence to the guard,

as he was convinced that such would lead to disastrous consequences, and

probably involve the rancheros and their families in ruin without accomplishing

any good result. Lieutenant Revere says of this episode: "This was not

told to me by Vallejo, but by a person who was present, and it tallies well

with the account given by the revolutionists themselves, several of whom

informed me that no guard was kept by them that night, and that the prisoners

might have easily escaped had they felt so inclined. The same person also told

me that when Vallejo was called out of bed and made a prisoner in his own

house, he requested to be informed as to the plans and objects of the

revolutionists, signifying his readiness to collect and take command of a force

of his countrymen in the cause of independence."




Having

traveled about two-thirds of the way from Sutter's Fort, Captain Merritt and

Kit Carson rode on ahead with the news of the capture of Sonoma, desiring that

arrangements be made for the reception of the prisoners. They entered the fort

early in the morning of June 16th. That evening the rest of the party, with

their prisoners, came and were handed over to the safe-keeping of Captain

Sutter, who, it is said, was severely censured by Captain Fremont for his

indulgence to them.




Mr.

Thomas C. Lancey, the author of several interesting letters on this subject

that appeared in The Pioneer during the year 1878, remarks: "There have

been so many questions raised during this year (1878) in relation to the date

of the hoisting of the 'Bear Flag,' who made it, and what material it was manufactured

from, as well as the date of the capture of Sonoma and the number of men who

marched that morning, that I shall give the statements of several who are

entitled to a hearing, as they were actors in that drama.




"The

writer of this (Mr. Lancey) was here in 1846, and served during the war, and

has never left the country since, but was not one of those who were found to be

able to form a correct opinion as to the correctness of these dates. Doctor

Robert Semple, who was one of that party from the first, says in his diary that

they entered Sonoma at early dawn on the 14th of June, 1846, thirty-three men,

rank and file. William B. Ide, who was chosen their commander, says in his

diary the same. Captain Henry L. Ford, another of this number, says, or rather

his historian, S. H. W., of Santa Cruz, whom I take to be the Rev. S.




H.

Willey, makes him say, that they captured Sonoma on the 12th of June, with

thirty-three men. Lieutenant William Baldridge, one of the party, makes the

date the 14th of June, and the number of men twenty-three. Lieutenant Joseph

Warren Revere, of the United States ship 'Portsmouth,' who hauled down the

'Bear Flag' and hoisted the American flag on the 9th of July, and at a later

date commanded the garrison, says the place was captured on the 14th of

June."




To this

list is now added the documentary evidence produced above, fixing the date of

capture of General Vallejo and his officers, and therefore the taking of

Sonoma, as June 14, 1846.




On the

seizure of the citadel of Sonoma, the Independents found floating from the

flagstaff-head the flag of Mexico, a fact which had escaped notice during the

bustle of the morning. It was at once lowered, and they set to work to devise a

banner which they should claim as their own. They were as one on the subject of

there being a star on the groundwork, but they taxed their ingenuity to have

some other device, for the "lone star" had been already appropriated

by Texas.




So many

accounts of the manufacture of this insignia have been published that we give

the reader those quoted by the writer in The Pioneer: "A piece of cotton

cloth," says Mr. Lancy, "was obtained, and a man by the name of Todd

proceeded to paint from a pot of red paint a star in the corner. Before he was

finished, Henry L. Ford, one of the party, proposes to paint on the center,

facing the star, a grizzly bear.




This was

unanimously agreed to, and the grizzly bear was painted accordingly. When it

was done, the flag was taken to the flagstaff, and hoisted amid the hurrahs of

the little party, who swore to defend it with their lives."




Of this

matter Lieutenant Revere says: "A flag was also hoisted bearing a grizzly

bear rampant, with one stripe below, and the words 'Republic of California'

above the bear, and a single star in the Union."




This is

the evidence of the officer who hauled down the Bear Flag and replaced it with

the Stars and Stripes on July 9, 1846.




The

Western Shore Gazetteer has the following version: "On the 14th of June,

1846, this little handful of men proclaimed California a free and independent

republic, and on that day hoisted their flag, known as the 'Bear Flag'; this

consisted of a strip of worn-out cotton domestic, furnished by Mrs. Kelley,

bordered with red flannel, furnished by Mrs.




John

Sears, who had fled from some distant part to Sonoma for safety upon hearing

that war had been thus commenced. In the center of the flag was a

representation of a bear en passant, painted with Venetian red, and in one

corner was painted a star of the same color. Under the bear were inscribed the

words 'Republic of California,' put on with common writing-ink. This flag is

preserved by the California Pioneer Association, and may be seen at their rooms

in San Francisco. It was designed and executed by W. L. Todd."




The

Sonoma Democrat, under the caption "A true history of the Bear Flag,"

tells its story: "The rest of the revolutionary party remained in

possession of the town. Among them were three young men, Todd, Benjamin Duell,

and Thomas Cowie. A few days after the capture, in a casual conversation between

these young men, the matter of a flag came up. They had no authority to raise

the American flag, and they determined to make one. Their general idea was to

imitate, without following too closely, their national ensign. Mrs. W. B.

Elliott had been brought to the town of Sonoma by her husband from his ranch on

the Mark West Creek, for safety. The old Elliott cabin may be seen to this day

on Mark West Creek, about a mile above the springs. From Mrs. Elliott, Ben

Duell got a piece of new red flannel, some white domestic, needles and thread.

A piece of blue drilling was obtained elsewhere.




From

this material, without consulting with anyone else, these three young men made

the Bear Flag. Cowie had been a saddler. Duell had also served a short time at

the same trade. To form the flag Duell and Cowie sewed together alternate

strips of red, white, and blue. Todd drew in the upper corner a star and

painted on the lower a rude picture of a grizzly bear, which was not standing,

as has been sometimes represented, but was drawn with head down. The bear was

afterward adopted as the design of the great seal of the State of California.

On the original flag it was so rudely executed that two of those who saw it

raised have told us that it looked more like a hog than a bear. Be that as it

may, its meaning was plain—that the revolutionary party would, if necessary,

fight their way through at all hazards. In the language of our informant, it

meant that there was no back out; they intended to fight it out. There were no

halyards on the flagstaff which stood in front of the barracks. It was again

reared, and the flag, which was soon to be replaced by that of the republic,

for the first time floated on the breeze."




Besides

the above-quoted authorities, John S. Hittell, historian of the Society of

California Pioneers, San Francisco, and H. H. Bancroft, the Pacific Coast

historian, affixed the dates of the raising of the Bear Flag as June 12th and

June 15th, respectively. William Winter, secretary of the Association of

Territorial Pioneers of California, and Mr. Lancey questioned the correctness

of these dates and entered into correspondence with all the men known to be

alive who were of that party and others who were likely to throw any light on

the subject.




Among

many answers received, we quote the following portion of a letter from James G.

Bleak:




"St.

George, Utah, 16th of April, 1878.




"To

William Winter, Esq., 




"Secretary

Association of Territorial Pioneers of California.




"Dear

Sir: Your communication of 3rd instant is placed in my hands by the widow of a

departed friend, James M. Ide, son of William B., as I have at present in my

charge some of his papers. In reply to your question asking for the 'correct

date' of raising the 'Bear Flag' at Sonoma, in 1846, I will quote from the

writing of William B. Ide, deceased: 'The said Bear Flag [was] made of plane

[plain] cotton cloth, and ornamented with the red flannel of a shirt from the

back of one of the men, and christened by the 'California Republic' in red

paint letters on both sides; [it] was raised upon the standard where had

floated on the breeze the Mexican flag aforetime; it was the 14th of June, '46.




Our

whole number was twenty-four all told. The mechanism of the flag was performed

by William L. Todd, of Illinois. The Grizzly Bear was chosen as an emblem of

strength and unyielding resistance.'"




The

following testimony, conveyed to the Los Angeles Express from the artist of the

flag, we now produce as possibly the best that can be found: "Los Angeles,

January 11, 1878.




"Your

letter of the 9th inst. came duly to hand, and in answer I have to say in

regard to the making of the original bear flag of California, at Sonoma, in

1846, that when the Americans, who had taken up arms against the Spanish

regime, had determined what kind of a flag should be adopted, the following

persons performed the work: Granville P. Swift, Peter Storm, Henry L. Ford, and

myself; we procured, in the house where we made our headquarters, a piece of

new unbleached cotton domestic, not quite a yard wide, with stripes of red

flannel about four inches wide, furnished by Mrs. John Sears, on the lower side

of the canvas. On the upper left-hand corner was a star, and in the center was

the image made to represent a grizzly bear passant, so common in this country at

the time. The bear and star were painted with paint made of linseed oil and

Venetian red or Spanish brown. Underneath the bear were the words 'California

Republic' The other persons engaged with me got the materials together, while I

acted as artist. The forms of the bear and star and the letters were first

outlined with pen and ink by myself, and the two forms were filled in with the

red paint, but the letters with ink. The flag mentioned by Mr. Hittell, with

the bear rampant, was made, as I always understood, at Santa Barbara, and was

painted black. Allow me to say, that at that time there was not a wheelwright

shop in California. The flag I painted I saw in the rooms of the California

Pioneers in San Francisco, in 1870, and the Secretary will show it to any

person who will call on him at any time. If it is the one I painted, it will be

known by a mistake in tinting out the words 'California Republic' The letters

were first lined out with a pen, and I left out the letter T and lined out the

letter 'C in its place. But afterwards I lined out the letter T over the 'C, so

that the last syllable of 'Republic' looks as if the two last letters were

blended.




"Yours

respectfully, "Wm. L. Todd."




The San

Francisco Evening Post of April 20, 1874, has the following: "General

Sherman has just forwarded to the Society of California Pioneers the guidon

which the Bear Company bore at the time of the conquest of California. The

relic is of white silk, with a two-inch-wide red stripe at the bottom, and a bear

in the center, over which is the inscription: 'Republic of California.' It is

accompanied by the following letter from the donor: "'Society of

California Pioneers, San Francisco, California,— "'Gentlemen: At the

suggestion of General Sherman, I beg leave to send to your society herewith a

guidon, formerly belonging to the Sonoma troop of the California battalion of

1846, for preservation. This guidon I found among the effects of that troop

when I hauled down the bear flag and substituted the flag of the United States

at Sonoma, on the 9th of July, 1846, and have preserved it ever since.




"'Very

respectfully, etc., 




"'Jos.

W. Revere, Brigadier-General.




"

'Morristown, N. J., February 20, 1874.'"




The

garrison being now in possession, it was necessary to elect officers;

therefore, Henry L. Ford was elected first lieutenant, Granville P. Swift first

sergeant, and Samuel Gibson second sergeant. Sentries were posted, and a system

of military routine inaugurated. In the forenoon, while on parade, Lieutenant

Ford addressed the company in these words: "My countrymen: We have taken

upon ourselves a very responsible duty. We have entered into a war with the

Mexican nation.




We are

bound to defend each other or be shot. There is no halfway place about it. To

defend ourselves we must have discipline. Each of you has had a voice in

choosing your officers. Now they are chosen, they must be obeyed." To

which the entire band responded that the authority of the officers should be

supported. The words of William B. Ide, in continuation of the letter quoted

above, throw further light upon the machinery of the civil-military force:

"The men were divided into two companies of ten each. The First Artillery

were busily engaged in putting the cannons in order, which were charged doubly

with grape and canister. The First Rifle Company were busied in cleaning,

repairing, and loading the small arms. The commander, after setting a guard and

posting a sentinel on one of the highest buildings, to watch the approach of

any persons who might feel a curiosity to inspect our operations, directed his

leisure to the establishment of some system of finance, whereby all the

defenders' families might be brought within the lines of our garrison and

supported. Ten thousand pounds of flour were purchased on the credit of the

Government, and deposited with the garrison; and an account was opened, on

terms agreed upon, for a supply of beef and a few barrels of salt constituted

our main supplies.




Whisky

was contrabanded altogether. After the first round of duties was performed, as

many as could be spared off guard were called together, and our situation fully

explained to the men by the commanders of the garrison.




"It

was fully represented that our success—nay, our very life—depended on the

magnanimity and justice of our course of conduct, coupled with sleepless

vigilance and care. (But ere this we had gathered as many of the surrounding

citizens as possible and placed them out of harm's way between four strong

walls. They were more than twice our number.) The commander chose from these

strangers the most intelligent, and by the use of an interpreter went on to

explain the cause of our coming together; our determination to offer equal

protection and equal justice to all good and virtuous citizens; and we had not

called them there to rob them of any portion of their property or to disturb

them in their social relations with one another; nor yet to desecrate their

religion."




As will

be learned from the foregoing, the number of those who were under the

protection of the Bear Flag within Sonoma had been considerably increased. A

messenger had been dispatched to San Francisco to inform Captain Montgomery, of

the United States ship "Portsmouth," of the action taken by the

little garrison, with the further statement that it was the intention of the

insurgents never to lay down their arms until the independence of their adopted

country had been established. Another message was dispatched about this time,

but in a different direction. Lieutenant Ford, finding that the magazine was

short of powder, sent two men named Cowie and Fowler, to the Sotoyome Rancho,

owned by H. D. Fitch, for a bag of gun-powder. The messenger to San Francisco

returned, the latter two never. Before starting they were cautioned against

proceeding by traveled ways—good advice, which, however, they followed for only

the first ten miles of their journey, when they struck into the main

thoroughfare into Santa Rosa. At about two miles from that place they were

attacked and slaughtered by a party of Californians. Two others were dispatched

on special duties; they too were captured but were better treated. Receiving no

intelligence from either of the parties, foul play was suspected; therefore, on

the morning of the 20th of June Sergeant Gibson, with four men, was ordered to

proceed to the Sotoyome Rancho, learn, if possible, the whereabouts of the

missing men, and procure the powder. They went as directed, secured the

ammunition, but got no news of the missing men. As they were passing Santa Rosa

on their return, they were attacked at daylight by a few Californians, and,

turning upon their assailants, captured two of them, Blas Angelina and

Bernardino Garcia, alias Three-Fingered Jack, and took them to Sonoma. They

told of the taking and slaying of Cowie and Fowler, and that their captors were

Ramon Mesa Domingo, Mesa Juan Padilla, Ramon Carrillo, Bernardino Garcia, Bias

Angelina, Francisco Tibran, Ygnacio Balensuella, Juan Peralta, Juan Soleto,

Inaguan Carrillo, Mariano Merando, Francisco Garcia, and Ygnacio Stigger. The

story of their death is a sad one. After Cowie and Fowler had been seized by

the Californians, they encamped for the night, and the following morning

determined in council what should be the fate of their captives. A swarthy New

Mexican, named Mesa Juan Padilla, and Three-Fingered Jack, the Californian,

were loudest in their denunciation of the prisoners as deserving of death, and

unhappily their counsels prevailed. The unfortunate young men were then led

out, stripped naked, bound to a tree with a lariat, while for a time the

inhuman monsters practiced knife-throwing at their naked bodies, the victims

praying to be shot. They then began throwing stones at them, one of which broke

the jaw of Fowler. The fiend Three-Fingered Jack, then advancing, thrust the

end of his riata (a rawhide rope) through Fowler's mouth, cut an incision in

his throat, and then made a tie by which the jaw was dragged out. They next

proceeded to kill them slowly with their knives. Cowie, who had fainted, had

the flesh stripped from his arms and shoulders, and pieces of flesh were cut

from their bodies and crammed into their mouths, they being finally

disemboweled. Their mutilated remains were afterward found and buried where

they fell, upon the farm now owned by George Moore, two miles north of Santa

Rosa. No stone marks the grave of these pioneers, one of whom took so

conspicuous a part in the events which gave to the Union the great State of

California. Three-Fingered Jack was killed by Captain Harry Love's rangers July

27, 1853, at Pinola Pass, near the Merced River, with the bandit Joaquin

Murietta, while Ramon Carrillo met his death at the hands of the Vigilantes

between Los Angeles and San Diego May 21, 1864. At the time of his death, the

above murder, in which it was said he was implicated, became the subject of

newspaper comment; indeed, so bitter was the tone of the press that on June 4,

1864, the Sonoma Democrat published a letter from Julio Carrillo, a respected

citizen of Santa Rosa, an extract from which we reproduce: "But I wish

more particularly to call attention to an old charge, which I presume owes its

revival to the same source: That my brother, Ramon Carrillo, was connected with

the murder of two Americans, who had been taken prisoners by a company commanded

by one Padilla in 1846. I presume this charge first originated from the fact

that my brother had been active in raising the company which was commanded by

Padilla, and from the further fact that the murder occurred near the Santa Rosa

farm then occupied by my mother's family. Notwithstanding these appearances, I

have proof which is incontestable that my brother was not connected with this

affair and was not even aware that these men had been taken prisoners until

after they had been killed.




The act

was disapproved by all the native Californians at the time, excepting those

implicated in the killing, and caused a difference which was never entirely

healed. There are, as I believe, many Americans now living in this vicinity,

who were here at the time, and who know the facts I have mentioned. I am ready

to furnish proof of what I have said to any who may desire it."




The

messenger dispatched to the United States ship "Portsmouth" returned

on the 17th in company with First Lieutenant John Storny Missroom and John E.

Montgomery, son and clerk of Captain Montgomery, who dispatched by express

letters from that officer to Fremont and Sutter. These arrived the following

day, the 18th, and on the 19th Fremont came to Sutter's with twenty-two men,

bringing Jose Noriega, of San Jose, and Vicente Peralta, as prisoners.




At

Sonoma, on June 18th, Captain William B. Ide, with the consent of the garrison,

issued the following: "A proclamation to all persons and citizens of the

district of Sonoma, requesting them to remain at peace and follow their

rightful occupations without fear of molestation.




"The

commander-in-chief of the troops assembled at the fortress of Sonoma gives his

inviolable pledge to all persons in California not found under arms, that they

shall not be disturbed in their persons, their property, or social relations

with one another by men under his command.




"He

also solemnly declares his object to be: first, to defend himself and

companions in arms, who were invited to this country by a promise of lands on

which to settle themselves and families; who were also promised a republican

government; when, having arrived in California, they were denied the privilege

of buying or renting lands of their friends, who, instead of being allowed to

participate in or being protected by a republican government, were oppressed by

a military despotism; who were even threatened by proclamation by the chief

officers of the aforesaid despotism with extermination if they should not

depart out of the country, leaving all their property, arms and beasts of

burden; and thus deprived of their means of flight or defense, were to be

driven through deserts inhabited by hostile Indians to certain destruction.




"To

overthrow a government which has seized upon the property of the missions for

its individual aggrandizement; which has ruined and shamefully oppressed the

laboring people of California by enormous exactions on goods imported into the

country, is the determined purpose of the brave men who are associated under my

command.




"I

also solemnly declare my object, in the second place, to be to invite all

peaceable and good citizens of California who are friendly to the maintenance

of good order and equal rights, and I do hereby invite them to repair to my

camp at Sonoma, without delay, to assist us in establishing and perpetuating a

republican government which shall secure to all civil and religious liberty;

which shall encourage virtue and literature; which shall leave unshackled by

fetters, agriculture, commerce, and manufactures.




"I

further declare that I rely upon the rectitude of our intentions, to the favor

of heaven and the bravery of those who are bound and associated with me by the

principles of self-preservation, by the love of truth and the hatred of

tyranny, for my hope of success.




"I

furthermore declare that I believe that a government, to be prosperous and

happy, must originate with the people who are friendly to its existence; that

the citizens are its guardians, the officers its servants, its glory its

reward.




William

B. Ide.




"Headquarters,

Sonoma, June 18,1846."




The

Pioneer says that William B. Ide was born in Ohio, came overland to California,

reaching Sutter's Fort in October, 1845. On June 7, 1847, Governor Mason

appointed him land surveyor for the Northern District of California, and in the

same month he was appointed justice of the peace at Cache Creek. At an early

day he got a grant of land called the Rancho Barranca Colorado, just below Red

Creek, in Colusa County, as it was then organized. In 1851 he was elected

county treasurer, with an assessment-roll of $373,260, and moved with the

county seat to Monroeville, at the mouth of Stoney Creek. On September 3, 1851,

he was elected county judge of Colusa County and practiced law, having a

license. Judge Ide died of smallpox at Monroeville on December 18, 1852, aged

fifty years.




Let us

for a moment turn to the doings of Castro. On June 17th he issued two

proclamations, one to the new, the other to the old citizens and foreigners.

Appended are translations:




"The

citizen, Jose Castro, Lieutenant-Colonel of Cavalry in the Mexican Army, and

acting General Commandant of the Department of California.




"Fellow

Citizens: The contemptible policy of the agents of the United States of North

America in this department has induced a number of adventurers, who, regardless

of the rights of men, have designedly commenced an invasion, possessing

themselves of the town of Sonoma, taking by surprise all the place, the

military commander of that border, Col. Don Mariano Guadalupe Vallejo,

Lieutenant-Colonel Don Victor Prudon, Captain Don Salvador Vallejo, and Mr.

Jacob P. Leese.




"Fellow-countrymen,

the defense of our liberty, the true religion which our fathers possessed, and

our independence, call upon us to sacrifice ourselves rather than lose those

inestimable blessings. Banish from your hearts all petty resentments; turn you,

and behold yourselves, these families, these innocent little ones, which have

unfortunately fallen into the hands of our enemies, dragged from the bosoms of

their fathers, who are prisoners among foreigners and are calling upon us to

succor them. There is still time for us to rise en masse, as irresistible as

retribution. You need not doubt but that Divine Providence will direct us in

the way to glory. You should not vacillate because of the smallness of the

garrison of the general headquarters, for he who will first sacrifice himself,

will be your friend and fellow-citizen, 




"Jose

Castro.




"Headquarters,

Santa Clara, June 17, 1846."




"The

citizen, Jose Castro, Lieutenant-Colonel of Cavalry in the Mexican Army, and

Acting Commandant of the Department of California.




"All

foreigners residing among us, occupied with their business, may rest assured of

the protection of all the authorities of the department while they refrain

entirely from all revolutionary movements.




"The

General Comandancia under my charge will never proceed with vigor against any

persons, neither will its authority result in mere words, wanting proof to

support it; declarations shall be taken, proofs executed, and the liberty and

rights of the laborious, which is ever commendable, shall be protected.




"Let

the fortunes of war take its chance with those ungrateful men who, with arms in

their hands, have attacked the country, without recollecting that they were

treated by the undersigned with all the indulgence of which he is so

characteristic. The imperative inhabitants of the department are witness to the

truth of this. I have nothing to fear; my duty leads me to death or victory. I

am a Mexican soldier, and I will be free and independent, or I will gladly die

for those inestimable blessings. "Jose Castro.




"Headquarters,

Santa Clara, June 17, 1846."




On June

20th a body of about seventy Californians, under Captain Jose Joaquin de la

Torre, crossed the Bay of San Francisco, and having joined Correo and Padilla,

marched to the vicinity of San Rafael, while General Castro had, by the utmost

pressure, raised his forces to two hundred and fifty men, most of them being

forced volunteers. Of this system of recruiting Lieutenant Revere says: "I

heard that on a feast day, when the rancheros came to the mission in their

'go-to-meeting' clothes, with their wives and children, Castro seized their

horses and forced the men to volunteer in defense of their homes, against los

salvajes Americanos. Castro, at the head of his army, on the evening of the

27th of June, marched out of Santa Clara, and proceeding around the head of the

Bay of San Francisco as far as the San Leandro Creek, halted on the rancho of

Estudillo, where we shall leave them for the present.




Captain

J. C. Fremont, having concluded that it had become his duty to take a personal

part in the revolution which he had fostered, on June 21st transferred his

impedimenta to the safe-keeping of Captain Sutter at the fort, and recrossing

the American River encamped on the Sinclair Rancho, where he was joined by

Pearson B. Redding and all the trappers about Sutter's Fort, and there awaited

orders. On the afternoon of the 23rd Harrison Pierce, who had settled in Napa

Valley in 1843, came into their camp, having ridden the eighty miles with but

one change of horses, which he procured from John R. Wolfskill, on Putah Creek,

now Solano County, and conveyed to Fremont the intelligence that the little

garrison at Sonoma was greatly excited consequent on news received that General

Castro, with a considerable force, was advancing on the town and hurling

threats of recapture and hanging of the rebels. On receiving the promise of

Fremont to come to their rescue as soon as he could, putting ninety men into

the saddle, Pierce obtained a fresh mount and returned without drawing rein to

the anxious garrison, who received him and his message with every demonstration

of joy. Fremont, having found horses for his ninety mounted rifles, left the

Sinclair Rancho on June 23rd—a curious looking cavalcade, truly.




One of

the party writes of them: "There were Americans, French, English, Swiss,

Poles, Russians, Prussians, Chileans, Germans, Greeks, Austrians, Pawnees,

native Indians, etc., all riding side by side, and talking a polyglot lingual

hash never exceeded in diversibility since the confusion of tongues at the

Tower of Babel. Some wore the relics of their homespun garments, some relied

upon the antelope and the bear for their wardrobe, some lightly habited in buckskin

leggings and a coat of war-paint, and their weapons were equally various. There

was the grim old hunter, with his long heavy rifle, the farmer with his

double-barreled shot-gun, the Indian with his bow and arrows, and others with

horse-pistols, revolvers, sabers, ships' cutlasses, bowie-knives and

'pepper-boxes' (Allen's revolvers)."




Though

the Bear Flag army was incongruous in personnel, as a body it was composed of

the best fighting material. Each of them was inured to hardship and privation,

self-reliant, fertile in resources, versed in woodcraft and Indian fighting,

accustomed to handling fire-arms, and full of energy and daring. It was a band

of hardy adventurers, such as in an earlier age wrested this land from the

feebler aborigines. With this band Fremont arrived at Sonoma at two o'clock in

the morning of June 25, 1846, having made forced marches.




The

reader may not have forgotten the capture and horrible butchery of Cowie and

Fowler by the Padilla party. A few days thereafter, while William L. Todd (the

artist of the Bear Flag) was trying to catch a horse a little distance from the

barracks at Sonoma, he was captured by the same gang, and afterward, falling in

with another man, he too was taken prisoner. The party several times signified

their intention of slaying Todd, but he, fortunately knowing something of the

Spanish tongue, was able to make them understand that his death would seal

General Vallejo's doom, and this saved his life. He and his companion in

misfortune, with whom he had no opportunity to converse, and who appeared to be

an Englishman—a half fool and common loafer—were conveyed to the Indian

rancheria called Olompoli, some eight miles from Petaluma.




For the

purpose of liberating the prisoners and keeping the enemy in check until the

arrival of Captain Fremont, Lieutenant Ford mustered a squad, variously stated

at from twenty to twenty-three men, among whom were Granville P. Swift, Samuel

Kelsey, William Baldridge, and Frank Bedwell, and on June 23rd, taking with

them from Sonoma the two prisoners, Blas Angelina and Three-Fingered Jack,

marched for where it was thought the Californians had established their

headquarters. Here they learned from some Indians, under considerable military

pressure, that the California troops had left three hours before. They now

partook of a hasty meal, and with one of the Indians as guide proceeded toward

the Laguna de San Antonio, and that night halted within half a mile of the

enemy's camp. At dawn they charged the place and took the only men they found

there prisoners; their number was four, the remainder having left for San

Rafael.




Four men

were left here to guard their prisoners and horses, and Ford, with fourteen

others, started in pursuit of the enemy. Leaving the lagoon of San Antonio and

striking into the road leading to San Rafael, after a quick ride of four miles,

they came in sight of the house where the Californians had passed the night

with their two prisoners, Todd and his companion, and were then enjoying

themselves within its walls. Ford's men were as ignorant of their proximity as

were the Californians of theirs. However, when the advance guard arrived in

sight of the corral, and perceiving it to be full of horses, with a number of

Indian vaqueros around it, they made a brilliant dash to prevent the animals

from being turned loose. While exulting over their good fortune at this

unlooked-for addition to their cavalry arm, they were surprised to see the

Californians rush out of the house and mount their already saddled quadrupeds.




It

should be said that the house was situated on the edge of a plain, some sixty

yards from a grove of brushwood. In a moment Ford formed his men into two half

companies and charged the enemy, who, perceiving the movement, retreated behind

the grove of trees. From his position Ford counted them and found that there

were eighty-five.




Notwithstanding

he had but fourteen in his ranks, nothing daunted, he dismounted his men, and.

taking advantage of the protection offered by the brushwood, prepared for

action. The Californians, observing this evolution, became emboldened and

prepared for a charge. On this Ford calmly awaited the attack, giving stringent

orders that his rear rank should hold their fire until the enemy were well up.

On they came with shouts, the brandishing of swords, and the flash of pistols,

until within thirty yards of the Americans, whose front rank then opened a

withering fire and emptied the saddles of eight of the Mexican soldiery. On

receiving this volley the enemy wheeled to the right-about and made a break for

the hills, while Ford's rear rank played upon them at long range, causing three

more to bite the earth and wounding two others. The remainder retreated

helter-skelter to a hill in the direction of San Rafael, leaving the two

prisoners in the house. Ford's little force, having now attained the object of

their expedition, secured their prisoners of war, and going to the corral where

the enemy had a large drove of horses changed their jaded nags for fresh ones,

took the remaining animals, some four hundred, and retraced their victorious

steps to Sonoma, where they were heartily welcomed by their anxious countrymen,

who had feared for their safety.




We last

left Captain Fremont at Sonoma, where he had arrived at two o'clock in the

morning of the 25th of June. After giving his men and horses a short rest and

receiving a small addition to his force, he was once more in the saddle and

started for San Rafael, where it was said Castro had joined De la Torre with

two hundred and fifty men.




At four

o'clock in the afternoon they came in sight of the position thought to be

occupied by the enemy. They approached cautiously until quite close, then

charged, the first three to enter being Fremont, Kit Carson, and J. W. Marshall

(the future discoverer of gold), but they found the lines occupied by only four

men, Captain Torre having left some three hours previously. Fremont camped on

the ground that night, and on the following morning dispatched scouting

parties, while the main body remained at San Rafael for three days. Captain

Torre had departed, no one knew whither; he left not a trace; but General

Castro was seen from the commanding hills behind approaching on the other side

of the bay. One evening a scout brought in an Indian, on whom was found a

letter from Torre to Castro, purporting to inform the latter that he would that

night concentrate his forces and march upon Sonoma and attack it in the

morning.




Captain

Gillespie and Lieutenant Ford held that the letter was a ruse designed for the

purpose of drawing the American forces back to Sonoma, and thus leave an avenue

of escape open for the Californians.




Opinions

on the subject were divided; however, by midnight every man of them was in

Sonoma. It was afterward known that they had passed the night within a mile of

Captain de la Torre's camp, who, on ascertaining the departure of the

revolutionists, effected his escape to Santa Clara via. Sausalito.




On or

about the 26th of June, Lieutenant Joseph W. Revere, of the sloop-of-war

"Portsmouth," in company with Doctor Andrew A. Henderson and a

boatload of supplies, arrived at Sutter's Fort; there arriving also on the same

day a party of men from Oregon, who at once cast their lot with the Bear Flag

band, while on the 28th another boat, with Lieutenants Washington and Bartlett,

put in an appearance. Of this visit of Lieutenant Revere to what afterward

became Sacramento City, he says: "On arriving at the 'Embarcadero'

(landing) were were not surprised to find a mounted guard of 'patriots,' who

had long been apprised by the Indians that a boat was ascending the river.

These Indians were indeed important auxiliaries to the revolutionists during

the short period of strife between the parties contending for the sovereignty

of California. Having been most cruelly treated by the Spanish race, murdered

even on slight provocation, when their oppressors made marauding expeditions

for servants, and when captured compelled to labor for their unsparing

task-masters, the Indians throughout the country hailed the day when the hardy

strangers from beyond the Sierra Nevada rose up in arms against the hijos del

pais (sons of the country).




Entertaining

an exalted opinion of the skill and prowess of the Americans and knowing from

experience that they were of a milder and less sanguinary character than the

rancheros, they anticipated a complete deliverance from their burdens, and

assisted the revolutionists to the full extent of their humble abilities.




"Emerging

from the woods lining the river, we stood upon a plain of immense extent,

bounded on the west by the heavy timber which marks the course of the

Sacramento, the dim outline of the Sierra Nevada appearing in the distance. We

now came to some extensive fields of wheat in full bearing, waving gracefully

in the gentle breeze like the billows of the sea, and saw the whitewashed walls

of the fort, situated on a small eminence commanding the approaches on all

sides.




"We

were met and welcomed by Captain Sutter and the officer in command of the

garrison, but the appearance of things indicated that our reception would have

been very different had we come on a hostile errand.




"The

appearance of the fort, with its cremated walls, fortified gateway and

bastioned angles; the heavily bearded, fierce-looking hunters and trappers,

armed with rifles, bowie-knives, and pistols; their ornamented hunting-shirts

and gartered leggings; their long hair, turbaned with colored handkerchiefs;

their wild and almost savage looks and dauntless and independent bearing; the

wagons filled with golden grain; the arid, and yet fertile plains; the

caballadas driven across it by wild, shouting Indians, enveloped in clouds of

dust, and the dashing horsemen scouring the fields in every direction; all

these accessories conspired to carry me back to the romantic East, and I could

almost fancy again that I was once more the guest of some powerful Arab

chieftain in his desert stronghold. Everything bore the impress of vigilance

and preparation for defense, and not without reason, for Castro, then at the

Pueblo de San Jose with a force of several hundred men, well provided with

horses and artillery, had threatened to march upon the valley of the

Sacramento.




"The

fort consists of a parallelogram, enclosed by adobe walls fifteen feet high and

two thick, with bastions or towers at the angles, the walls of which are four

feet thick, and their embrasures so arranged as to flank the curtain on all

sides. A good house occupies the center of the interior area, serving for

officers' quarters, armories, guard and state rooms, and also for a kind of citadel.

There is a second wall on the inner face, the space between it and the outer

wall being roofed and divided into workshops, quarters, etc., and the usual

offices are provided, and also a well of good water. Corrals for the cattle and

horses of the garrison are conveniently placed where they can be under the eye

of the guard. Cannon frown from the various embrasures, and the ensemble

presents the very ideal of a border fortress. It must have astonished the

natives when this monument of the white man's skill arose from the plain and

showed its dreadful teeth in the midst of those peaceful solitudes.




"I

found during this visit that General Vallejo and his companions were rigorously

guarded by the 'patriots,' but I saw him and had some conversation with him,

which it was easy to see excited a very ridiculous amount of suspicion on the

part of his vigilant jailers, whose position, however, as revolutionists was a

little ticklish and incited in them that distrust which in dangerous times is

inseparable from low and ignorant minds. Indeed they carried their doubts so

far as to threaten to shoot Sutter for being polite to his captives."




Fremont,

with his men having partaken of the early meal, on the morning of the 27th of

June returned to San Rafael, being absent only twenty-four hours.




Castro,

who had been for three days watching the movements of Fremont from the other

side of the bay, sent three men, Don Jose Reyes Berryessa (a retired sergeant

of the Presidio company of San Francisco) and Ramon and Francisco de Haro (twin

sons of Don Francisco de Haro, alcalde of San Francisco in 1838-39), to

reconnoiter, and these three landed on what is now known as Point San Quentin.

Here they were seized, with their arms, and on them were found written orders

from Castro to Captain de la Torre (who it was not known had made his escape to

Santa Clara) to kill every foreign man, woman, and -child. These men were shot

on the spot—first, as spies, and, second, in retaliation for the Americans so

cruelly butchered by the Californians. General Castro, fearing that he might,

if caught, share the fate of his spies, left the rancho of the Estudillos, and

after a hasty march arrived at the Santa Clara Mission on June 29, 1846.




Captain

William D. Phelps, of Lexington, Mass., who was lying at Sausalito with his

bark, the "Moscow," remarks (according to Mr. Lancey): "When

Fremont passed San Rafael in pursuit of Captain de la Torre's party I had just

left them, and he sent me word that he would drive them to Sausalito that

night, when they could not escape unless they got my boats. I hastened back to

the ship and made all safe. There was a large launch lying near the beach; this

was anchored farther off, and I put provisions on board to be ready for Fremont

should he need her. At night there was a boat on the shore. Torre's party must

shortly arrive, and show fight or surrender. Toward morning we heard them

arrive, and to our surprise they were seen passing with a small boat from the

shore to the launch; a small boat had arrived from Yerba Buena during the

night, which had proved their salvation. I dispatched a note to the commander

of the 'Portsmouth' sloop-of-war, then lying at Yerba Buena, a cove (now San

Francisco), informing him of their movements, and intimating that a couple of his

boats could easily intercept and capture them. Captain Montgomery replied that

not having received any official notice of war existing he could not act in the

matter.




"It

was thus the poor scamps escaped. They pulled clear of the ship, and thus

escaped supping on grape and canister, which we had prepared for them.




"Fremont

arrived and camped opposite my vessel, the bark 'Moscow,' the following night.

They were early astir the next morning, when I landed to visit Captain Fremont,

and were all variously employed in taking care of their horses, mending

saddles, cleaning their arms, etc.




I had

not up to this time seen Fremont, but from reports of his character and

exploits my imagination had painted him as a large-sized, martial-looking man

or personage, towering above his companions, whiskered, and ferocious-looking.




"I

took a survey of the party but could not discover anyone who looked as I

thought the captain to look. Seeing a tall, lank, Kentucky-looking chap (Doctor

R. Semple), dressed in a greasy deerskin hunting-shirt, with trousers to match,

and which terminated just below the knees, his head surmounted by a coonskin

cap, tail in front, who, I supposed, was an officer, as he was giving orders to

the men, I approached and asked if the captain was in camp. He looked, and

pointed to a slender-made, well-proportioned man sitting in front of the tent.

His dress was a. blue woolen shirt of somewhat novel style, open at the neck,

trimmed with white and with a star on each point of the collar (a man-of-war-'s-man's

shirt), over this a deerskin hunting-shirt, trimmed and fringed, which had

evidently seen hard times or service, his head unencumbered by hat or cap, but

had a light cotton handkerchief bound around it, and deerskin moccasins

completed the suit, which if not fashionable for Broadway, or for a

presentation dress at court, struck me as being an excellent rig to scud under

or fight in. A few minutes' conversation convinced me that I stood in the

presence of the king of the Rocky Mountains."




Captain Fremont

and his men remained at Sausalito until July 2nd, when they left for Sonoma,

and there prepared for a more perfect organization, their plan being to keep

the Californians to the southern part of the State until the immigrants then on

their way had time to cross the Sierra Nevada into California. On the 4th the

national holiday was celebrated with due pomp; while on the 5th the California

battalion of mounted riflemen, two hundred and fifty strong, was organized.




Brevet

Captain John C. Fremont, Second Lieutenant of Topographical Engineers, was

chosen commandant; First Lieutenant of Marines Archibald H. Gillespie, adjutant

and inspector, with the rank of captain. Says Fremont: "In concert and in

co-operation with the American settlers, and in the brief space of thirty days,

all was accomplished north of the Bay of San Francisco, and independence

declared on the 5th of July. This was done at Sonoma, where the American

settlers had assembled. I was called to my position and by the general voice to

the chief direction of affairs, and on the 6th of July, at the head of the

mounted riflemen, set out to find Castro.




"We

had to make the circuit of the head of the bay, crossing the Sacramento River

(at Knight's Landing). On the 10th of July, when within ten miles of Sutter's

Fort, we received (by the hands of William Scott) the joyful intelligence that

Commodore John Drake Sloat was at Monterey and had taken it on the 7th of July,

and that war existed between the United States and Mexico. Instantly we pulled

down the Flag of Independence (Bear Flag) and ran up that of the United States,

amid general rejoicing and a national salute of twenty-one guns on the morning

of the 11th from Sutter's Fort, with a brass four-pounder called

'Sutter'."




We find

that at two o'clock on the morning of July 9th Lieutenant Joseph Warren Revere

of the "Portsmouth" left that ship in one of her boats, and reaching

the garrison at Sonoma at noon of that day, hauled down the Bear Flag and

raised in its place the Stars and Stripes, and at the same time forwarded a

United States flag to Sutter's Fort by the hands of William Scott, and another

to Captain Stephen Smith at Bodega. Thus ended what was called the Bear Flag

war.




The

following is the Mexican account of the Bear Flag war: "About a year

before the commencement of the war a band of adventurers, proceeding from the

United States, and scattering over the vast territory of California, awaited

only the signal of their Government to take the first step in the contest for

usurpation. Various acts committed by these adventurers in violation of the

laws of the country indicated their intentions. But, unfortunately, the

authorities then existing, divided among themselves, neither desired nor knew

how to arrest the tempest. In the month of July, 1846, Captain Fremont, an

engineer of the U. S. A., entered the Mexican territory with a few mounted

riflemen, under the pretext of a scientific commission, and solicited and

obtained from the commandant-general, Don Jose Castro, permission to traverse

the country. Three months afterwards, on the 19th of May (June 14th), that same

force and their commander took possession by armed force and surprised the

important town of Sonoma, seizing all the artillery, ammunition, armaments,

etc., which it contained.




"The

adventurers, scattered along the Sacramento River, amounted to about four

hundred, one hundred and sixty men having joined their force. They proclaimed

for themselves and on their own authority the independence of California,

raising a rose-colored flag with a bear and a star. The result of this

scandalous proceeding was the plundering of the property of some Mexicans and

the assassination of others— three men shot as spies by Fremont, who, faithful

to their duty to the country, wished to make resistance. The commandant-general

demanded explanations on the subject of the commander of an American

ship-of-war, the 'Portsmouth,' anchored in the Bay of San Francisco; and

although it was positively known that munitions of war, arms, and clothing were

sent on shore to the adventurers, the commander, J. B. Montgomery, replied that

'neither the Government of the United States nor the subalterns had any part in

the insurrection, and that the American authorities ought, therefore, to punish

its authors in conformity with the laws.'"
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